
 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

MARCH 28, 2023 

5:00 p.m. 

 

 

The March 28, 2023, meeting will be available via Zoom.  The public may attend remotely using either: 
 

The Zoom app, [Zoom website (https://zoom.us/)] [Meeting ID: 870 1784 6503; Passcode: 631628] at 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87017846503?pwd=ekF0RGt1Mm4vWXgrRFpXbUlPUFlmdz09 or 

Dial by your location:  +1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose); Meeting ID: 870 1784 6503; Passcode: 631628 
 

The public may provide comments in advance or real-time by emailing ncfboardcomments@ncfire.org. 

E-mailed comments received will be read into the record by Staff. 

LOCATION OF DIRECTOR VIA TELECONFERENCE:   LOCATION:       FALLBROOK PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT 
HILTON PORTLAND DOWNTOWN – CONFERENCE 

ROOM 
990 EAST MISSION ROAD 

921 SW Sixth Avenue, Portland OR, 97204 FALLBROOK CALIFORNIA 
  

PUBLIC ACTIVITIES AGENDA 
 

For those joining us for the Public Activities Agenda, please feel free to depart at the close 
of the agenda.  We invite you to stay for the remainder of the business meeting. 

CALL TO ORDER  
ROLL CALL 
MOMENT OF REFLECTION/SILENCE 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

1.  Public Comment – President Acosta                                                                          (pgs.1-2)  

➢  

Standing Item:  Members of the Public may directly address the Board of Directors on items of interest to the 
Public provided no   action will be taken on non-agenda items.  The Presiding Officer may limit comments to 
three minutes per speaker (Board of Directors Operations – Elections, Officers and Terms SOG § 4.2.6.3.). 

 

 

ACTION AGENDA 

Consent Items:  
 

All items listed under the Consent Items are considered routine and will be enacted in one motion.  There will be no 
separate discussion of these items prior to the Board action on the motion, unless members of the Board,  

Staff or public request specific items be removed from the Consent Agenda. 
 

2. Approve Regular Board Meeting Minutes, February 21, 2023 (pgs. 3-8) 

➢  Standing Item: Review and approve minutes from February meeting as presented.    
 

3. Review and Accept Financial Reports for February 2023 (pgs.9-18) 

➢  Standing Item: Review and accept financial reports for February as presented. 

 

4. Review and Approve Policies and Procedures (pgs.19-44) 

➢  a) Job Description- Fire Captain/Paramedic:  Update to education/certification requirements. 
b) Organizational Statements: Revision to the Mission and Vision Statements.  

This was created by a Mission Vision Values Working Group after holding three meetings. All 
employees were eligible to provide feedback. 

c) Purchasing and Contracting Manual: Updated to reflect current state law. 
d) Investment Policy: This is a new policy regarding deposits and investments of public funds. 
e) Interest Income Policy: Revision to existing policy to include an additional investment 

mechanism to generate interest-based income. 
 

5. Monthly Operations Activity Report                 (pgs. 45-54) 

➢  Standing Item: Monthly Report demonstrating call mix, turnout time, call by unit, transports, total 
response times, aid received & provided, monthly inspection report, health & safety – injuries &  
accidents and turnover of care statistics.           
 
 

 
 

https://zoom.us/
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87017846503?pwd=ekF0RGt1Mm4vWXgrRFpXbUlPUFlmdz09
mailto:ncfboardcomments@ncfire.org


 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

MARCH 28, 2023 

5:00 p.m. 
 

Action Items: 
 

All items listed under the Action Items Agenda will be presented and discussed prior to the Board taking action on any 
matter.  Members of the public may comment on items at the time they are presented.  Time certain Items will 

commence precisely at the time announced in the Agenda. 
 

6. 
San Diego LAFCO 2023 Election – Regular and Alternate Special District 
Member – Chief McReynolds and Board Clerk Canpinar 

(pgs.55-74) 

➢  Recurring Item: Consider selecting a nominee for the LAFCO Commission, authorizing the Board 
President to cast a ballot for the 2023 election. 

 

7. 
Resolution 2023-02 and Letter of Support for Assembly Bill 557 – Chief 
McReynolds and Board Clerk Canpinar 

(pgs.75-94) 

➢  New Item: Consider adopting Resolution 2023-02, acknowledging support for Assembly Bill 557 
and submit a letter of support to the California State Assembly. 

 

8. 
Valley Center Fire Protection District Tax Apportionment Rate – Board Clerk 
Canpinar 

(pgs.95-96) 

➢  New Item:  Consider drafting a letter to the County Board of Supervisors supporting the  
Valley Center Fire Protection District’s efforts to request a raise in their tax apportionment formula. 
 

9.            Fire Station #4 Construction Project – Chief McReynolds  (pgs. 97-98) 

➢  New Item: Consider  approving Fire Station 4 (4375 Pala Mesa Drive) as the location to construct a 
new fire station, direct Staff to execute a contract with Erickson-Hall, and allocate funds in the FY 23/34 
Budget. 

   
10. Fleet Service Contracts – Deputy Chief Mahr and Chief McReynolds (pgs.99-110) 

➢  New Item: Consider authorizing Staff to execute fleet maintenance contracts with outside agencies. 

 

DISCUSSION AGENDA 
 

No action shall be undertaken on any Discussion item.  The Board may: acknowledge receipt of the information or report 
and make comments; refer the matter to Staff for further study or report; or refer the matter to a future agenda. 

 

11. BLS 116 Crashworthiness Evaluation – B/C DeCamp and Chief McReynolds (pgs.111-112) 

➢        New Item: Presentation and discussion of the traffic collision involving a District vehicle and two  
employees. 

   

12. California Special Districts Association (CSDA) Special District Leadership 
Academy (SDLA)– Chief McReynolds 

(pgs.113-114) 

➢  
New Item: Takeaway discussion of the SDLA conference attended by the Board and Staff in February.  

Standing Discussion Items: 
 

All items listed under the Standing Discussion Items are presented at every meeting. 
 

•  LEG  AL COUNSEL REPORT: 

“Ninth Circuit Court’s decision in Garnier v. O’Connor-Ratcliff: Social media use by public officials.” 

(pgs.115-118) 

 
 

•  WRITTEN COMMUNICATION:  (pgs.119-124) 

•  • Board Recognition Program  
 

 

•  NEWS ARTICLES  (pgs. 125-144) 

•  COMMENTS/QUESTIONS    (pgs.145-146) 

 
 



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

MARCH 28, 2023 

5:00 p.m. 
 
 

•  Staff:  

 • Chief McReynolds 
 

 • Other Staff 
 

 

•  Board  

•  Bargaining Groups  

•  Public Comment  

 

CLOSED SESSION 
 

The Board will enter closed session to discuss items as outlined herein.  As provided in the Government Code, 
 the public will not be present during these discussions.  At the end of the Closed Session, the Board shall publicly report 

any action taken in Closed Session and the vote or abstention on that action of every member present) in accordance with 
Government Code § 54950 ET. seq. 

 

CS-3.    Report from Closed Session – President Acosta: 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
Scheduled Meetings: 
The next regularly scheduled Board meeting is Tuesday, April 25, 5:00 p.m.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

CS-1.  Announcement – President Acosta:                                  (pgs.147-148) 

➢  An announcement regarding the items to be discussed in Closed Session will be made 
prior to the commencement of Closed Session. 

 

 

CS-2. Conference With Real Property Negotiators (Government Code section 
54956.8)- Property: 315 E. Ivy Street, Fallbrook, CA & Vacant Land, Ivy 
Street, Fallbrook, CA 

 

➢  Fire Chief/CEO Agency Representative: Wil Soholt, 
Senior VP, Kosmont Companies 

 

CERTIFICATION OF AGENDA POSTING 
“I certify that this Agenda was posted in accordance with the provisions of the Government Code § 54950 et. seq. The posting locations 
were: [1] the entrance of North County Fire Protection District Administrative Offices, [2] Fallbrook Public Utility District Administrative 
Offices and [3] the Roy Noon Meeting Hall; [4] District’s website at http://www.ncfire.org.  The agenda was also available for review at the 
Office of the Board Clerk, located at located at 330 S. Main Avenue, Fallbrook (760) 723-2012.  Materials related to an item on this Agenda 
submitted to the District after distribution of the agenda packet, are available for public inspection in the Office of the Board Clerk, during 
normal business hours or may be found on the District website, subject to the Staff’s ability to post the documents before the meeting. 
The date of posting was March 23, 2023. 

Board Clerk Mavis Canpinar:   Date:  March 23, 2023 

This agenda was also posted at the Hilton, Portland, Oregon.

http://www.ncfire.org/


 

 

 



S T A F F  R E P O R T   

Page 1 of 1 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

FROM: KEITH MCREYNOLDS, FIRE CHIEF/CEO  

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023 

SUBJECT: PUBLIC COMMENT 

PUBLIC COMMENT:   

1. Members of the Public may directly address the Board of Directors on 
items of interest to the Public provided no action will be taken on non-
agenda items.  The Board President may limit comments to three 
minutes per speaker (Board of Directors Operations – Elections, Officers 
and Terms SOG § 4.2.6.3.).

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 001



 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 002



North County Fire Protection District 
Board of Directors – Regular Meeting Minutes 

 February 21, 2023 — Page 1 of 5 

February 21, 2023 1 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF  2 

THE NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 3 

President Acosta called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 4 

A MOMENT OF SILENCE WAS OBSERVED for retired NCFPD Captain Don McLean. 5 

ALL RECITED THE PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE.6 

ROLL CALL:    7 

Present:  Directors Acosta, Egkan, Munson, Pike (left at 6:05 p.m.) and Shaw. 8 

Absent:  None. 9 

Staff Present:  Fire Chief/CEO McReynolds, General Counsel Burns, D/C MacMillan, FM Fieri, IT 10 

Specialist Swanger, B/C August, Board Clerk Canpinar and members of the public and Association.   11 

12 

Chief McReynolds requested the NHA Advisors Presentation item listed as number eleven (11) under 13 

the Discussion Agenda section, move to the beginning of the meeting. With a unanimous Board vote, 14 

the NHA Advisors Presentation Discussion item immediately followed. 15 

16 

DISCUSSION AGENDA 17 

11. NHA ADVISORS’ PRESENTATION: Mr. Meyer provided the pension update and fiscal 18 

sustainability presentation to the Board. This item is for discussion only. No action taken.  19 

PUBLIC ACTIVITIES AGENDA 20 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT: President Acosta addressed the audience and inquired whether there 21 

were any public comments regarding items not on the agenda.  Mike Crain, Fallbrook resident and 22 

member of North County CERT, spoke about the program. North County CERT trains and educates 23 

community members on how they can take care of themselves and their neighbors during a large-24 

scale disaster. Mr. Crain encouraged the Board and residents to attend education opportunities 25 

provided by the organization, where they can learn CPR, how to use a defibrillator, fire extinguishers 26 

and more. Instructional classes are currently held at the Fallbrook High School two Saturdays a month 27 

and will soon be held at the Community Health and Wellness Center. President Acosta asked if 28 

instruction will be held in Spanish, and Mr. Crain responded that they are in the process of finding a 29 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 003



North County Fire Protection District 
Board of Directors – Regular Meeting Minutes 

 February 21, 2023 — Page 2 of 5 

translator. Director Pike asked what the charge to attend the classes are and Mr. Crain indicated that 30 

all classes and equipment provided by North County CERT are offered free of charge.  31 

There being no more public comment, the public comment section was closed.   32 

ACTION AGENDA 33 

CONSENT ITEMS: 34 

2. REVIEW AND ACCEPT REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES FOR  JANUARY 24, 2023. 35 

3. REVIEW AND ACCEPT FINANCIAL REPORT FOR  JANUARY 2023. 36 

4. REVIEW AND ACCEPT POLICIES & PROCEDURES: 37 

a) Career Path and Development  38 

b) Tuition/Certification Reimbursement 39 

5. REVIEW AND ACCEPT THE MONTHLY OPERATIONS ACTIVITY REPORT. 40 

6. REVIEW AND ACCEPT ANNUAL FIRE PREVENTION REPORT. 41 

President Acosta inquired whether there were any questions on Consent Items 2-6. There 42 

being no discussion, President Acosta asked for a motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  On a 43 

motion by Director Pike seconded by Vice President  Egkan, the motion to approve the Consent 44 

Agenda as presented passed unanimously.   45 

ACTION ITEMS: 46 

7. SOLE SOURCE STATION ALERTING PURCHASE AND CONTRACT FOR SERVICE INSTALLATION -47 

CHIEF MCREYNOLDS AND D/C MACMILLAN: Chief McReynolds advised the Board that this item is to 48 

request an additional fifteen thousand ($15,000) over what was budgeted to upgrade fire alerting 49 

equipment. D/C MacMillan informed the Board the contract will provide new equipment for Station 1, 50 

2 and 5. On a motion by Director Munson seconded by Director Pike, the motion to approve the 51 

purchase and contract for service installation of Station Alerting equipment passed unanimously.52 

8. SALE OF SURPLUS VEHICLES – CHIEF MCREYNOLDS AND B/C DECAMP: Chief McReynolds 53 

requested the Board consider the sale of three surplus vehicles. Board discussion ensued. On a motion 54 

by Director Pike seconded by Director Shaw, the motion passed unanimously.  55 

9. EMERGENCY FACILITY ROOF REPAIRS AND CEQA EXEMPTION – CHIEF MCREYNOLDS AND D/C56 

MACMILLAN: Chief McReynolds stated that two District locations, Fire Station 1 and the Administrative 57 

office are in need emergency roof repairs. Water from recent storms have caused damage to both 58 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 004



structures.  Board discussion ensued. On a motion by Director Pike seconded by Vice President Egkan, 

the motion to enter a contract with Sylvester Roofing, approving Resolution 2023-01 for repairs, passed 

unanimously.   

10.  CALL  FOR  NOMINATIONS  - APPOINTMENT  TO  LAFCO CONSOLIDATED  REDEVELOPMENT 

OVERSIGHT BOARD – CHIEF MCREYNOLDS: Chief McReynolds asked the Board to consider nominating 

an  eligible  candidate  for  the  LAFCO  Consolidated  Redevelopment  Oversight  Board,  as  there  is  a 

vacancy due to a recent resignation. There being no nominations, on a motion by Vice President Egkan 

seconded  by  Director  Shaw,  the  motion  to  abstain  from  nominating  an  eligible  candidate  for  the 

Consolidated Redevelopment Oversight Board passed with the following votes: Ayes: Acosta, Egkan, 

Munson, Shaw; Absent: Pike.   

North County Fire Protection District 
Board of Directors – Regular Meeting Minutes 

 February 21, 2023 — Page 3 of 5 

59 

60 

61 

62 

63 

64 

65 

66 

67 

68 

69 

STANDING DISCUSSION ITEMS: 70 

 LEGAL COUNSEL REPORT: General Counsel Gena Burns introduced herself to the Board, 71 

as she was filling in for Counsel Steinke. The report “SB149: New Rules on Campaign Contribution 72 

Disclosure,” was presented. It is informational only; no action required. 73 

 WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS:  Information only; no action required. 74 

 BOARD RECOGNITION PROGRAM:  Information only; no action required.75 

 NEWS ARTICLES: Information only; no action required. 76 

 COMMENTS: These items are informational only; no action required.77 

 STAFF REPORTS/UPDATES:78 

 KEITH MCREYNOLDS, FIRE CHIEF/CEO:   Chief McReynolds informed the Board of the following 79 

topics:80 

o There is a significant upcoming storm which may or may not require staffing changes.81 

o The Board will visit the North County Dispatch JPA center on Friday.82 

o The Bonsall Chamber of Commerce awarded the District Non-Profit of the Year – 83 

Captain Harrington accepted the award.84 

o Easements at Station 4: 3 of the 4 easements have been lifted. Our civil engineer is 85 

working on lifting the last easement.86 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 005



North County Fire Protection District 
Board of Directors – Regular Meeting Minutes 

 February 21, 2023 — Page 4 of 5 

o The Wildfire Preparedness Symposium is scheduled for March 25, 2023, at Fallbrook 87 

High School from 9 a.m. to 12 p.m.88 

o The CSDA Leadership Conference is Sunday, Feb. 26, 2023, through Wednesday, 89 

March 1, 2023.90 

 CHIEF OFFICERS AND OTHER STAFF: BOARD CLERK CANPINAR: Board Clerk Canpinar informed 91 

the Board that details regarding travel to and from the CSDA Leadership Academy will be sent out 92 

after the meeting. F/M FIERI: F/M Fieri reported there has been an increase in building construction, 93 

and point-of-sale inspections have doubled since January. State mandated initial apartment 94 

inspections have been completed, most of which will require a follow-up inspection. There were three  95 

fire investigation call outs, one involving an arrest. There was also one court arraignment and one 96 

preliminary hearing for an arson case from back in November. F/M Fieri stated he is also in the 97 

process of intelligence gathering for an upcoming red tag of a residential structure. D/C MACMILLAN: 98 

D/C MacMillan expressed gratitude to Chief McReynolds for the active shooter training that was 99 

recently implemented, as Staff had to respond to an active shooter incident this month. D/C 100 

MacMillan also thanked the crews and training division for their prepared response.101 

 BOARD: VICE PRESIDENT EGKAN:  Vice President Egkan thanked B/C August for his response 102 

to the shooting incident on February 10, and thanked Board Clerk Canpinar for her assistance on his 103 

recent appointment to the LAFCO Special Districts Advisory Committee. 104 

 BARGAINING GROUPS: Firefighter Lian introduced himself as the new Union President, and 105 

informed the Board he looks forward to participating in the upcoming labor management meeting. 106 

Firefighter Lian indicated there are several fundraising opportunities coming up: the Boot Drive, the 107 

Avocado Festival, and the Demolition Derby. 108 

 PUBLIC COMMENT:  There were no additional public comments.109 

110 

CLOSED SESSION 111 

There were no closed session items for this meeting. 112 

113 

ADJOURNMENT 114 

A motion was made at 6:20 p.m. by Vice President Egkan seconded by President Acosta to adjourn 115 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 006



North County Fire Protection District 
Board of Directors – Regular Meeting Minutes 

 February 21, 2023 — Page 5 of 5 

Official Seal  

the meeting and reconvene on March 28, 2023, at 5:00 p.m., which motion carried unanimously. 116 

117 

Respectfully submitted, 118 

119 

120 

Mavis Canpinar 121 

Board Clerk 122 

123 

Minutes approved at the Board of Director’s Meeting on:      124 

125 

126 

127 

128 

129 

130 

131 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 007



 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 008



N O R T H  C O U N T Y  F I R E  

P R O T E C T I O N  D I S T R I C T  

A D M I N I S T R A T I O N  – B U D G E T  & F I N A N C E

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FROM: FINANCE MANAGER CHERIE JUUL AND CHIEF MCREYNOLDS 

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023

SUBJECT: 
 REVENUE & EXPENDITURES AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2023 (67%) 

Revenue Sources Budgeted Collected Over/Under % of Budget

Property Taxes - FBK 18,018,748 11,163,836 (6,854,912) 62%

Property Taxes - RNBW 391,094 238,513 (152,581) 61%

Ambulance and Collections 3,000,000 2,174,035 (825,965) 72%

GEMT-State Supplement - - - 0%

Prevention Fees 218,700 70,634 (148,066) 32%

Tower Lease Agreements 25,200 95,730 70,530 380%

Other Revenue Sources - 9,480 9,480 0%

Interest 45,000 51,975 6,975 116%

Weed Abatement/Mowing Reimbursement 9,000 - (9,000) 0%

Cost Recovery 50,000 51,322 1,322 103%

Inspection Fee (Fire Prevention) - 6,442 6,442 0%

Fallbrook Healthcare District 82,500 74,723 (7,777) 91%

Community Facilities District (CFD) 175,000 - (175,000) 0%

Strike Team Reimbursements 17,240 214,993 197,753 1247%

Other Reimbursements 7,783 84,484 76,701 1085%

Mitigation Fees & Interest - FBK 541,200 141,165 (400,035) 26%

Donations & Grants - 151,241 151,241 0%

Annexation fees (Meadowood) - - -

Transfers & Loans - - -

Total Revenue: 22,581,465 14,528,573 (8,052,892) 64%

Budgeted Spent Over/Under % of Budget

TTL Expenditures YTD thru 02-28-2023 30,470,955 14,128,838 (16,342,117) 46%

Revenue over Expenditures 399,735

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 009



N
or

th
 C

ou
nt

y 
F

ir
e 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

D
is

tr
ic

t

F
or

 t
he

 S
ev

en
th

 M
on

th
 E

n
di

ng
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

28
, 

20
23

 6
7

%
 o

f 
B

u
d

ge
t

T
O

T
A

L
 P

E
R

S
O

N
N

E
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
2,

15
2,

69
1.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

1
0,

58
5,

44
5.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

 1
7,

85
1

,0
05

.0
0 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
7,

26
5

,5
60

.0
0 

59
.3

%

1
01

T
ot

al
 B

oa
rd

 A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
io

n
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 1
9,

59
9.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 2
13

,6
2

0.
00

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

53
5

,0
00

.0
0 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 3
21

,3
80

.0
0 

39
.9

%

1
02

T
ot

al
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a

ti
on

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 6

0,
89

9.
00

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 6

33
,8

5
8.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 1

,1
52

,2
00

.0
0 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 5
18

,3
42

.0
0 

55
.0

%

1
03

C
om

m
u

n
it

y
 R

is
k

 R
ed

u
ct

io
n

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

58
3.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 2

0,
52

2.
00

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

10
3

,4
00

.0
0 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 8

2
,8

78
.0

0 
19

.8
%

1
04

T
ot

al
 E

m
er

ge
n

cy
 S

er
vi

ce
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 8
,8

7
9.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 2
84

,2
4

0.
00

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

43
5

,3
50

.0
0 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 1
51

,1
10

.0
0 

65
.3

%

1
05

T
ot

al
 E

m
er

ge
n

cy
 M

ed
 S

vc
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 5

3,
77

6.
00

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 2

82
,6

7
0.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
75

5
,1

00
.0

0 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 4

72
,4

30
.0

0 
37

.4
%

1
07

T
ot

al
 C

om
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
on

s
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 9

,5
6

0.
00

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 4

53
,3

4
3.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
72

6
,8

50
.0

0 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 2

73
,5

07
.0

0 
62

.4
%

1
08

T
ot

al
 S

h
o

p
/M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 3

0,
97

3.
00

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 3

19
,5

3
3.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
41

8
,2

00
.0

0 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 9
8

,6
67

.0
0 

76
.4

%
F

u
e

l

1
09

T
ot

al
 T

ra
in

in
g

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 1

4,
34

3.
00

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 7
6,

55
2.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
12

6
,5

00
.0

0 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 4
9

,9
48

.0
0 

60
.5

%

1
20

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
 R

es
er

ve
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 -
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 -
  

   
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
30

0
,0

00
.0

0 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 3

00
,0

00
.0

0 
0.

0%

G
R

A
N

D
 T

O
T

A
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
2,

35
1,

30
3.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

1
2,

86
9,

78
3.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

 2
2,

40
3

,6
05

.0
0 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
9,

53
3

,8
22

.0
0 

57
.4

%

2
00

T
ot

al
 C

ap
it

al
 E

xp
en

d
it

u
re

s
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 1

62
,3

6
0.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
1,

25
9,

05
5.

00
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 5

,8
43

,3
50

.0
0 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
4,

58
4

,2
95

.0
0 

21
.5

%
R

e
m

o
d

e
ls

/S
ta

ff
 v

e
h

ic
le

s/
C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
s

D
es

cr
ip

ti
on

%
 U

se
d

F
eb

ru
a

ry
 a

ct
u

al
R

u
n

n
in

g 
T

ot
a

l
F

in
al

 B
u

d
ge

t
A

m
ou

n
t

R
em

ai
n

in
g

N
ot

es
 

C
O

L
O

R
 K

E
Y

 

W
it

h
in

/B
el

ow
 B

u
d

ge
t

W
it

h
in

 1
0%

 o
f 

B
u

d
ge

t

>
10

%
 o

f 
B

u
d

ge
t 

(s
ee

 n
ot

es
)

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 010



D
A

T
E

A
P

P
 #

G
R

O
S

S
R

E
F

U
N

D
S

 &
 

A
D

J
U

S
T

M
E

N
T

S
F

Y
 2

2
/2

3
 N

E
T

F
Y

 2
2

/2
3
 

R
U

N
N

IN
G

 F
Y

 2
1

/2
2

 N
E

T
 

 F
Y

 2
1
/2

2
 

R
U

N
N

IN
G

 

8
/9

/2
0
2

2
1

5
,5

3
0

.3
4

4
8

.6
3

5
,4

8
1
.7

1
5
,4

8
1

.7
1

3
,4

8
5

.6
1

3
,4

8
5

.6
1

9
/6

/2
0
2

2
2

2
,6

0
5

.0
4

7
7

.2
1

2
,5

2
7
.8

3
8
,0

0
9

.5
4

2
,3

5
3

.6
9

5
,8

3
9

.3
0

1
0
/1

1
/2

0
2
2

3
6
,2

5
5

.3
0

5
1

2
.1

6
5
,7

4
3
.1

4
1
3
,7

5
2

.6
8

2
5
0

.4
6

6
,0

8
9

.7
6

1
1
/1

5
/2

0
2
2

4
1
7
,5

8
7

.0
7

3
9

4
.1

3
1

7
,1

9
2
.9

4
3
0
,9

4
5

.6
2

1
8

,0
7

0
.2

6
2
4
,1

6
0

.0
2

1
2
/2

0
/2

0
2
2

5
1

2
9
,8

8
5

.8
2

2
9

1
.1

2
1
2

9
,5

9
4
.7

0
1
6

0
,5

4
0

.3
2

1
1

6
,2

1
0

.2
6

1
4
0
,3

7
0

.2
8

1
/1

7
/2

0
2

3
6

6
1
,9

3
0

.6
6

1
,0

8
4

.2
7

6
0
,8

4
6
.3

9
2
2

1
,3

8
6

.7
1

6
0

,8
6

5
.1

3
2

0
1
,2

3
5

.4
1

2
/1

4
/2

0
2

3
7

1
4
,7

1
9

.0
9

2
7

4
.8

5
1

4
,4

4
4
.2

4
2
3

5
,8

3
0

.9
5

1
5

,0
3

7
.4

8
2

1
6
,2

7
2

.8
9

3
/2

1
/2

0
2

3
8

-
2
3

5
,8

3
0

.9
5

1
0

,4
1

0
.1

1
2

2
6
,6

8
3

.0
0

4
/1

8
/2

0
2

3
9

-
2
3

5
,8

3
0

.9
5

1
1

0
,5

1
7

.4
1

3
3
7
,2

0
0

.4
1

5
/1

6
/2

0
2

3
1

0
-

2
3

5
,8

3
0

.9
5

1
9

,3
3

8
.0

1
3

5
6
,5

3
8

.4
2

6
/2

0
/2

0
2

3
1

1
-

2
3

5
,8

3
0

.9
5

7
,1

5
9

.2
7

3
6
3
,6

9
7

.6
9

7
/2

1
/2

0
2

3
1

2
-

2
3

5
,8

3
0

.9
5

1
,8

1
9

.4
1

3
6
5
,5

1
7

.1
0

T
O

T
A

L
 Y

T
D

2
3
8
,5

1
3

.3
2

2
,6

8
2

.3
7

2
3

5
,8

3
0
.9

5
2
3

5
,8

3
0

.9
5

2
1

6
,2

7
2

.8
9

2
1
6
,2

7
2

.8
9

N
e
t 

R
e
v
 I

n
c
re

a
s
e

9
.0

4
%

R
A

IN
B

O
W

 F
IR

E
 P

R
O

T
E

C
T

IO
N

 S
U

B
Z

O
N

E

T
a

x
 A

p
p

o
rt

io
n

m
e

n
ts

 F
Y

 2
1

/2
2

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 011



D
A

T
E

A
P

P
 #

G
R

O
S

S
R

E
F

U
N

D
S

 &
 

A
D

J
U

S
T

M
E

N
T

S
F

Y
 2

2
/2

3
 N

E
T

F
Y

 2
2
/2

3
 

R
U

N
N

IN
G

 F
Y

 2
1

/2
2

 N
E

T
 

 F
Y

 2
1
/2

2
 

R
U

N
N

IN
G

 

8
/9

/2
0

2
2

1
2

5
6
,0

1
2

.7
4

2
,2

5
0

.6
1

2
5

3
,7

6
2
.1

3
2

5
3
,7

6
2

.1
3

1
7

3
,7

1
1

.9
5

1
7
3
,7

1
1

.9
5

9
/6

/2
0

2
2

2
1

2
0
,5

9
4

.0
3

3
,5

7
4

.8
3

1
1

7
,0

1
9
.2

0
3

7
0
,7

8
1

.3
3

1
1

7
,3

0
4

.0
5

2
9
1
,0

1
6

.0
0

1
0
/1

1
/2

0
2
2

3
2

8
9
,5

7
3

.0
5

2
3
,7

0
8

.0
1

2
6

5
,8

6
5
.0

4
6

3
6
,6

4
6

.3
7

1
5

9
,9

0
7

.3
8

4
5
0
,9

2
3

.3
8

1
1
/1

5
/2

0
2
2

4
8

1
4
,1

4
9

.9
3

2
2
,6

1
3

.6
4

7
9

1
,5

3
6
.2

9
1
,4

2
8
,1

8
2

.6
6

8
9

6
,0

4
8

.5
7

1
,3

4
6
,9

7
1

.9
5

1
2
/2

0
/2

0
2
2

5
5
,9

9
9
,2

4
3

.7
9

1
3
,4

7
8

.1
9

5
,9

8
5
,7

6
5
.6

0
7
,4

1
3
,9

4
8

.2
6

5
,2

7
8

,0
3

8
.1

9
6
,6

2
5
,0

1
0

.1
4

1
/1

7
/2

0
2
3

6
2
,9

8
9
,0

3
0

.1
7

5
0
,4

1
9

.5
7

2
,9

3
8
,6

1
0
.6

0
1
0

,3
5
2
,5

5
8

.8
6

2
,7

7
8

,8
9

9
.0

1
9
,4

0
3
,9

0
9

.1
5

2
/1

4
/2

0
2
3

7
6

9
5
,2

3
2

.4
5

1
2
,7

7
2

.8
7

6
8

2
,4

5
9
.5

8
1
1

,0
3
5
,0

1
8

.4
4

6
9

6
,6

8
3

.0
3

1
0

,1
0
0
,5

9
2

.1
8

3
/2

1
/2

0
2
3

8
-

1
1

,0
3
5
,0

1
8

.4
4

4
8

2
,0

5
4

.6
4

1
0

,5
8
2
,6

4
6

.8
2

4
/1

8
/2

0
2
3

9
-

1
1

,0
3
5
,0

1
8

.4
4

5
,1

1
2

,4
2

0
.7

6
1
5

,6
9
5
,0

6
7

.5
8

5
/1

6
/2

0
2
3

1
0

-
1
1

,0
3
5
,0

1
8

.4
4

8
5

1
,2

4
7

.0
6

1
6

,5
4
6
,3

1
4

.6
4

6
/2

0
/2

0
2
3

1
1

-
1
1

,0
3
5
,0

1
8

.4
4

3
3

3
,7

5
7

.6
1

1
6

,8
8
0
,0

7
2

.2
5

7
/2

1
/2

0
2
3

1
2

-
1
1

,0
3
5
,0

1
8

.4
4

8
4

,6
7

8
.4

4
1
6

,9
6
4
,7

5
0

.6
9

-

T
O

T
A

L
 Y

T
D

1
1

,1
6
3
,8

3
6

.1
6

1
2

8
,8

1
7

.7
2

1
1
,0

3
5
,0

1
8
.4

4
1
1

,0
3
5
,0

1
8

.4
4

1
0
,1

0
0

,5
9

2
.1

8
1
0

,1
0
0
,5

9
2

.1
8

N
e
t 

R
e
v
 I

n
c
re

a
s

e
9
.2

5
%

N
O

R
T

H
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
 F

IR
E

 P
R

O
T

E
C

T
IO

N
 D

IS
T

R
IC

T

T
a

x
 A

p
p

o
rt

io
n

m
e

n
ts

 F
Y

 2
2

-2
3

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 012



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 013



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 014



Document 

Date
Document Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Document Amount

2/1/2023 122932 CASELLE, INC. march 2023 support 866.00

2/1/2023 062997645X230122 DIRECTV 1/21-2/20 177.98

2/1/2023 180006343 INTERSTATE BATTERY OF SD SHOP 554.08

2/1/2023 02012023 RUSTY WALLIS, INC WATER SERVICE 130.00

2/1/2023 51038 Sherwin-Williams Co. PAINT 55.45

2/1/2023 23NOCFPDN07 COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO - RCS 800 MHZ FIRE RADIOS 5,840.70

2/1/2023 23NOCFPDC07 COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO - RCS CAP CODE JAN 23 52.50

2/1/2023 A9018C0D-0027 DIGITAL DEPLOYMENT, INC. FEB 23 WEB MBMER 275.00

2/1/2023 501224 OSTARI FEB 2023 IT SERVICES 1,850.00

2/1/2023 018135999 XEROX - PASADENA UPSTAIRS XEROX 365.92

2/1/2023 018135998 XEROX - PASADENA DOWNSTAIRS XEROX 143.81

2/1/2023 000019442131 AT&T 1/1-1/31 13.65

2/2/2023 7690-003 2/20/23 FALLBROOK PUBLIC UTILITY DISTR 1/6/23-2/2/23 282.10

2/2/2023 7690-002 2/20/23 FALLBROOK PUBLIC UTILITY DISTR 1/6-2/2 329.12

2/2/2023 0381456020223 TIME WARNER CABLE 2/2-3/1 346.28

2/2/2023 0381472020223 TIME WARNER CABLE 2/2-3/1 1,445.28

2/2/2023 122754396-0013 SUNBELT RENTALS DIESEL GENERATOR 2,027.05

2/3/2023 511379 SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERV ELEFLEX W MAGNET 271.49

2/5/2023 I500-00889395 ASBURY ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES environmental services 95.00

2/6/2023 162-2023-0006 INTEGRA REALTY RESOURCES STEINKE VACANT LAND 3,725.00

2/6/2023 0000240012023 TIME WARNER CABLE 1/20-2/19 129.27

2/6/2023 1213 MAURICIO VARELA EXTRA WORK/LABOR 773.48

2/6/2023 102565-026 COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO ST 4 ASSET MANAGEMENT LOT 8,578.14

2/7/2023 367032 ACE LOCK & KEY door re keyed 143.49

2/7/2023 00636 AFSS - SOUTHERN DIVISION AFSS GOSS FEE 35.00

2/8/2023 10840 JIM'S SIGN SHOP EXPLORER STICKERS 258.60

2/8/2023 INV674857 L.N. CURTIS & SONS BRUSH COATS 136.37

2/8/2023 03/2023 Employee Benefit Specialists, Inc. ebs march 2023 10,529.98

2/9/2023 511466 SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERV PROE FOAM LEVEL 785.87

2/9/2023 511465 SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERV SEAT BELT 546.34

2/9/2023 511461 SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERV SWITCH DOOR, PROX SWITCH 94.18

2/9/2023 VS0102628 UNIFORM SPECIALIST/ACE UNIFORMS UNI 61.69

2/9/2023 VS0102627 UNIFORM SPECIALIST/ACE UNIFORMS PANTS ZARAGOZA 61.69

2/10/2023 245706 All-Star Fire Equipment paur turnouts 3,061.18

2/10/2023 5269 2/10/23 RAINBOW MUNICIPAL WATER DIST 1/11-2/10 171.92

2/10/2023 5274 2/10/23 RAINBOW MUNICIPAL WATER DIST 1/11-2/10 14.81

2/10/2023 EI01444560 EIDE BAILLY JAN 2023 11,310.15

2/11/2023 0417565021123 TIME WARNER CABLE 2/11-3/10 107.98

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 015



2/13/2023 296635 BURKE, WILLIAMS & SORENSEN, LLP JAN 2023 SERVICES 5,967.50

Document 

Date
Document Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Document Amount

2/13/2023 296636 BURKE, WILLIAMS & SORENSEN, LLP AMR WEST 220.00

2/13/2023 0010122664 Capital One Public Funding ST 5 LOAN PYMT 119,500.50

2/13/2023 2022-036919 CHARLES CLARK AMB FEES 2,440.53

2/13/2023 DEH2004-HUPFP-204354 CO. OF SAN DIEGO, DEH DEH PERMIT 548.00

2/13/2023 DEH2004-HUPFP-204352 CO. OF SAN DIEGO, DEH PROGRAM FACILITY PERMIT 633.00

2/13/2023 02/2023 FALLBROOK OIL COMPANY FBK OIL STMT 1 FEB 6,075.86

2/13/2023 11670 Southwest Lift & Equipment, Inc. annual service/ inspection 1,550.00

2/14/2023 2022-070743 BLUE CROSS OF CALIF. amb fees 1,951.29

2/14/2023 2022-025652 BLUE SHIELD OF CA amb fees 3,288.80

2/14/2023 2022-029843 STEPHEN BRITSCHGI amb fees 47.00

2/14/2023 2022-066751 THOMAS BROOKS AMB FEES 124.22

2/14/2023 2021-073422 RIGOBERTO MORALES GARFIAS AMB FEES 2,476.50

2/14/2023 2022-058729 HERBERT HILL AMB FEES 1,281.13

2/14/2023 1171513 MICHAEL BAKER INTERNATIONAL TITLE REVIEW/ST 4 16,840.00

2/14/2023 2022-026980 PALOMAR HEALTH ENCINO AMB REFUND 398.84

2/14/2023 15313 PETERS PAVING & GRADING, INC. DAMAGE REPAIR 500.00

2/14/2023 2022-029515 SYRIL WHITLOCK AMB REFUND 75.00

2/14/2023 44902 LineGear WILDLAND BOOTS 1,221.99

2/14/2023 04P27638 San Diego Friction Products, Inc. gradient opti scenelight 632.84

2/15/2023 03/2023 LEGAL SHIELD FEB 2023 STMT 458.60

2/15/2023 INV676705 L.N. CURTIS & SONS hard section hose 339.76

2/16/2023 CSDA DINNER 2/16/23 CSDA - SAN DIEGO CHAPTER CSDA meeting dinner w pike 120.00

2/16/2023 1446 FIRST ALARM WELLNESS DEC 2022 2,900.00

2/16/2023 19896 Advanced Communication Systems, Inc. mobile radio mount kit 10,605.45

2/19/2023 03/2023 THE STANDARD MARCH STMT 2023 580.00

2/20/2023 0000240022023 TIME WARNER CABLE 2/20-3/19 149.95

2/22/2023 111 SERGIO RAMIREZ BACKFLOW ST 3 250.00

2/22/2023 062997645X230222 DIRECTV rainbow cable 190.23

2/22/2023 R186762 Five Alarm Security march to may monitoring 189.00

2/23/2023 1-23-23 US BANK GOVERNMENT SERVICES us bank 1/23/23 12,266.62

2/23/2023 7690 3/10/23 FALLBROOK PUBLIC UTILITY DISTR 1/24-2/23 52.09

2/23/2023 7690-001 3/10/23 FALLBROOK PUBLIC UTILITY DISTR 1/24-2/23 712.25

2/23/2023 022289 PROPANE WEST COAST st 2 propane 321.81

2/23/2023 022290 PROPANE WEST COAST st 4 propane 519.58

2/23/2023 9396 SUPERIOR RAINGUTTERS repair raingutter or downspout 675.00

2/24/2023 010820 3/21/23 RAINBOW MUNICIPAL WATER DIST 1/25-2/24 54.40

2/24/2023 005269-001 3/21/23 RAINBOW MUNICIPAL WATER DIST 1/25-2/24 274.79

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 016



2/24/2023 57565 Uniform Plus ladies jacket, uniform 471.07

2/24/2023 57560 Uniform Plus oppenborn jacket patch 161.23

Document 

Date
Document Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Document Amount

2/24/2023 57557 Uniform Plus willard uniform 337.50

2/24/2023 57558 Uniform Plus perona uniform 441.16

2/24/2023 57559 Uniform Plus oppenborn uniform 441.16

2/24/2023 57561 Uniform Plus anaya jacket/patch 161.23

2/24/2023 57562 Uniform Plus lievanos uniform 738.62

2/24/2023 57564 Uniform Plus nixon uniform 337.50

2/24/2023 57563 Uniform Plus anaya uniform 441.16

2/27/2023 10102 World Landscape feb 2023 396.43

2/28/2023 JAN + FEB 2023 D.F. Cleaning Service jan + feb 2023 1,175.00

2/28/2023 02/2023 ERICKSON-HALL CONSTRUCTION application no 7, feb billing 6,836.00

2/28/2023 02/2023 2 FALLBROOK OIL COMPANY feb fuel 2 3,635.16

2/28/2023 10881 JIM'S SIGN SHOP farmer helmet decals 34.48

2/28/2023 00580772-00581923 SPECTRUM GAS PRODUCTS spectrum gas stmt 1,987.50

2/28/2023 02/2023 VELOCITY TRUCK CENTERS feb 2023 stmt 3,331.02

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 017



T
O

T
A

L
T

O
T

A
L

C
O

N
T

R
A

C
T

U
A

L
A

R
A

R
B

A
D

 D
E

B
T

D
E

P
O

S
IT

S
 

B
IL

L
IN

G
 

F
Y

 2
2
-2

3
F

Y
 2

1
-2

2
M

O
N

T
H

B
IL

L
E

D
W

R
IT

E
 D

O
W

N
S

F
Y

 2
2
-2

3
F

Y
 2

1
-2

2
W

R
IT

E
-O

F
F

S
R

E
F

U
N

D
S

A
D

J
 A

R
R

E
C

IE
V

E
D

F
E

E
S

N
E

T
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

N
E

T
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

7
/3

1
/2

0
2
2

1
,0

0
5
,7

1
5
.2

7
6
6
3
,0

0
8
.6

1
3
4
2
,7

0
6
.6

6
3
1
7
,5

8
1
.5

9
8
3
,3

6
6
.7

0
-

2
5
9
,3

3
9
.9

6
2
8
6
,0

6
6
.6

4
1
6
,8

6
9
.0

8
2
6
9
,1

9
7
.5

6
2
0
3
,8

1
5
.3

3

8
/3

1
/2

0
2
2

7
7
1
,2

1
3
.1

5
5
7
8
,6

3
4
.0

9
1
9
2
,5

7
9
.0

6
3
1
5
,6

1
1
.8

5
5
5
,2

8
8
.7

0
-

1
3
7
,2

9
0
.3

6
2
7
6
,9

3
4
.7

8
1
6
,3

3
9
.1

5
2
6
0
,5

9
5
.6

3
2
0
2
,4

7
0
.2

5

9
/3

0
/2

0
2
2

1
,2

0
3
,8

4
5
.5

1
7
4
9
,1

0
3
.2

2
4
5
4
,7

4
2
.2

9
2
5
7
,5

9
6
.9

2
4
7
,6

6
9
.2

5
1
0
,6

9
2
.1

6
3
9
6
,3

8
0
.8

8
2
5
9
,6

2
2
.0

0
1
4
,6

8
6
.8

6
2
4
4
,9

3
5
.1

4
2
3
2
,5

0
6
.8

0

1
0
/3

1
/2

0
2
2

1
,1

7
1
,1

3
8
.5

1
7
7
7
,0

6
3
.2

3
3
9
4
,0

7
5
.2

8
2
6
4
,9

0
9
.3

6
4
9
,5

1
5
.1

3
-

3
4
4
,5

6
0
.1

5
2
8
7
,8

5
8
.9

3
1
6
,9

6
5
.7

1
2
7
0
,8

9
3
.2

2
1
7
7
,7

4
5
.7

2

1
1
/3

0
/2

0
2
2

1
,3

1
6
,4

4
2
.5

3
8
4
4
,7

7
8
.4

1
4
7
1
,6

6
4
.1

2
3
3
4
,8

2
0
.0

0
3
1
,2

3
0
.7

5
-

4
4
0
,4

3
3
.3

7
3
1
4
,2

7
3
.7

1
1
8
,3

4
5
.9

9
2
9
5
,9

2
7
.7

2
2
1
4
,1

1
2
.1

8

1
2
/3

1
/2

0
2
2

1
,1

5
1
,6

7
8
.1

6
8
1
4
,3

6
8
.6

8
3
3
7
,3

0
9
.4

8
2
8
3
,5

5
3
.4

8
9
,7

6
5
.9

6
1
,4

1
7
.6

8
3
2
6
,1

2
5
.8

4
3
0
6
,2

6
5
.7

8
1
7
,9

7
0
.9

9
2
8
8
,2

9
4
.7

9
2
1
2
,6

3
8
.4

8

1
/3

1
/2

0
2
3

1
,1

6
3
,5

1
8
.8

7
7
1
4
,8

0
6
.0

7
4
4
8
,7

1
2
.8

0
2
8
3
,8

5
9
.1

2
3
5
,1

4
5
.7

9
8
,1

2
6
.4

6
4
0
5
,4

4
0
.5

5
2
7
3
,1

9
0
.1

3
1
5
,6

3
8
.7

6
2
5
7
,5

5
1
.3

7
1
8
6
,3

1
0
.1

1

2
/2

8
/2

0
2
3

1
,2

1
4
,8

7
6
.9

6
7
5
6
,2

2
6
.8

3
4
5
8
,6

5
0
.1

3
3
1
7
,1

5
5
.1

7
9
5
,5

9
7
.9

6
3
,9

5
6
.8

5
3
5
9
,0

9
5
.3

2
3
0
4
,3

6
3
.6

8
1
7
,7

2
4
.0

0
2
8
6
,6

3
9
.6

8
2
6
8
,7

0
6
.4

6

3
/3

1
/2

0
2
3

-
2
9
3
,3

7
1
.4

7
-

-
2
3
8
,3

4
4
.7

5

4
/3

0
/2

0
2
3

-
3
4
2
,6

1
8
.3

5
-

-
2
0
3
,3

8
8
.1

9

5
/3

1
/2

0
2
3

-
2
7
0
,7

0
6
.2

0
-

-
2
4
0
,1

4
2
.4

5

6
/3

0
/2

0
2
3

-
3
0
2
,3

7
4
.5

5
-

-
2
2
6
,9

6
8
.5

4

T
O

T
A

L
:

8
,9

9
8
,4

2
8
.9

6
5
,8

9
7
,9

8
9
.1

4
3
,1

0
0
,4

3
9
.8

2
2
,3

7
5
,0

8
7
.4

9
4
0
7
,5

8
0
.2

4
2
4
,1

9
3
.1

5
2
,6

6
8
,6

6
6
.4

3
2
,3

0
8
,5

7
5
.6

5
1
3
4
,5

4
0
.5

4
2
,1

7
4
,0

3
5
.1

1
1
,6

9
8
,3

0
5
.3

3

3
0
.5

4
%

N
e
w

 R
e
v
e
n

u
e
 C

h
a
n

g
e

2
8
.0

1
%

N
O

R
T

H
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
 F

IR
E

 P
R

O
T

E
C

T
IO

N
 D

IS
T

R
IC

T

A
M

B
U

L
A

N
C

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 F
Y

 2
0
2
2
-2

0
2
3

N
e
t 

A
/R

 C
h

a
n

g
e

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 018



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 1 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

1.0. PURPOSE:   
 
1.1. To provide a description of the physical requirements for, the qualifications for, and 

the duties and responsibilities of employment within this classification with the North 
County Fire Protection District.  

 
2.0. POLICY:   
 
2.1. All members classified in the position described herein shall meet all physical 

requirements, personal and professional qualifications, and shall perform the stated 
duties and responsibilities, and all other duties as assigned.  This job analysis was 
conducted by Job Analysis Inc. via interview with employees from each of the 
classifications.  The format of each job description is in its original version as 
disseminated by Job Analysis Inc. 

 
3.0. INTENT:   
 
3.1. The intent of this policy is to provide an overview of the abilities necessary to 

appropriately function within the specified classification.  It is also the intent to 
provide an overview of the typical duties and responsibilities of the stated position.  
This job analysis is not intended to delineate every facet of a particular job 
classification; other duties and responsibilities may be assigned as appropriate. 

 
4.0. ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS JOB ANALYSIS:   
 

JOB TITLE:  Captain-Paramedic 
  

EMPLOYER:  North County Fire Protection District 
  330 S. Main Avenue  
 Fallbrook, CA 92028-2938 
 Phone: (760) 723-2005; Fax (760) 723-2072 
  

DATE WRITTEN:  May 12, 1998 
  

UPDATES:  October 29, 2012 (Format Only)  
 March 25, 2014 

November, 2020 
September 21, 2021 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 019



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 2 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

5.0. GENERAL JOB DESCRIPTION: 
 

5.1. Captains are assigned to one of five stations where (during assigned shift) they are 
responsible for all safety personnel under the rank of captain.  On incidents, 
Captains are responsible for overall management of the incident and the personnel 
who respond. If a Chief Officer is assigned to the incident they would assume overall 
management authority.    Each Captain may be responsible to oversee a special 
program/project area.  There are typically seasonal variances in types of incidents , 
with more structural fires and river/flood rescues during winter months, and more 
wildland fires during summer months, more vehicle accidents in wet weather, etc.   
 

5.2. WORK HOURS: 
 

5.2.1. An average of eight, 24-hour shifts are worked in a 24-day work cycle, equaling an 
average 56-hour workweek.  Regularly scheduled activities and emergency call 
responses are performed from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  Emergency call responses 
are performed throughout the remainder of the shift.  Mandatory overtime hours are 
worked as needed.  During "regular work hours," employees are provided two, 15-
minute breaks and a 60-minute lunch break.   

 
5.3. EDUCATION: 

 

5.3.1. A high school diploma or GED equivalent is required.   
 
5.3.2. DESIRABLE EDUCATION: 

 

5.3.2.1. An Associate’s Degree in Fire Science, Business Management, Public 
Administration or related field; and/or 

5.3.2.2. A Bachelor's Degree in Fire Science, Business Management, Public 
Administration or related field; and  

5.3.2.3. OSFM Instructor 1 Certification; and  

5.3.2.4. ICS 400; and  

5.3.2.5. L-280. 
   
5.4. EXPERIENCE/CERTIFICATIONS/LICENSES: 
 

5.4.1. MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS :  
 

5.4.1.1. A minimum five (5) years full-time experience as a Safety employee with 
the  District or five (5) years combined experience between the District and 
another full-time career Safety position with successful completion of 
probation. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 020



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 3 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

5.4.1.2. Shall be State Certified as a Paramedic. 

5.4.1.3. Shall have completed prior to the filing deadline: 
 

5.4.1.3.1. One (1) year as an Acting Engineer or;  
5.4.1.3.2. One (1) year in grade as Engineer or; 
5.4.1.3.3. Combined time of 1 year as an Acting Engineer and time in grade as 

Engineer. 
 

5.4.1.4. Must have a California OSFM Fire Officer certification or have completed 
all of the educational prerequisites for Company Officer as specified by the 
Office of the State Fire Marshal, including CSTI Hazardous Materials 
Incident Commander.  Must also have completed the required training for 
the position of Engine Boss per current CICCS Qualification Guide or be 
Engine Boss Certified and Blue Card Incident Commander certified. Must 
also have completed the required skills (“S” courses) training for the 
position of Engine Boss per current CICCS Qualification Guide or be 
Engine Boss Certified. Gap or “G” courses do not meet this training 
requirement. Blue Card Incident Commander certification is also required. 

5.4.1.4.  

5.4.1.5. Within six (6) months of successful completion of probationary period, 
Employee shall apply for California OSFM Company Officer Certification. 

5.4.1.6. These licenses/certifications must be maintained while in position. 

5.4.1.7. If an Employee on promotional probation (12 months) does not meet 
acceptable performance standards or voluntarily surrenders the position, 
they will revert to their former regular position. 
 

5.4.2. KNOWLEDGE OF:   
 

5.4.2.1. Emergency rescue procedures and practices involving fire, chemical, or 
other threats;  

5.4.2.2. Firefighting principles, techniques and principles of hydraulics applied to 
fire suppression;  

5.4.2.3. Modern fire prevention and suppression methods, fire behavior and basic 
fire chemistry;  

5.4.2.4. ICS;  

5.4.2.5. Advanced life support and principles of EMS delivery;  

5.4.2.6. Personnel management principles;  

5.4.2.7. Departmental rules and regulations on fire prevention, safety, fire codes, 
and rescue methods to include State laws and municipal codes and 
ordinances related to fire prevention and inspection work;  

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 021



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 4 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

5.4.2.8. Hazardous, toxic and/or explosive materials; and 

5.4.2.9.    Area terrain, geography, roadways and other relevant characteristics. 

5.4.2.10. Principles and practices of effective employee supervision, training, work 
evaluation and discipline; 

5.4.2.11. Administrative practices including planning and budget needs; 

5.4.2.12. Time management and leadership principles; 

5.4.2.13. Monitoring relevant expenditures and compliance with purchase and 
requisition processes; 

5.4.2.14. Principles, techniques, strategy, materials and equipment used in fire 
suppression, investigation and prevention, rescue and related emergency 
responses, Hazardous material and chemical spill responses 

   
5.4.3. ABILITY TO:   

 

5.4.3.1. Perform strenuous work under adverse conditions for sustained periods of 
time; 

5.4.3.2. React quickly and calmly and perform command functions in emergency 
situations;  

5.4.3.3. Supervise and coordinate operation and maintenance of department 
apparatus and tools;  

5.4.3.4. Supervise, manage and plan day-to-day operations of company; supervise 
direct, counsel and discipline subordinates;  

5.4.3.5. Interpret and enforce laws, ordinances, statutes and other regulations;  

5.4.3.6. Inspect or supervise inspections or commercial or residential occupancies;  

5.4.3.7. Plan, coordinate, develop, schedule, implement and evaluate various 
training programs;  

5.4.3.8. Perform or supervise fire and arson investigations; 

5.4.3.9. Prepare and maintain department reports, records and budgets;  
Comprehend and follow specific instructions, policies and procedures; 

5.4.3.10. Perform simple and repetitive tasks, or short cycle work; 

5.4.3.11. Maintain a work pace appropriate to a given work load; 

5.4.3.12. Relate to other people beyond giving and receiving instructions; 

5.4.3.13. Influence people; 

5.4.3.14. Perform complex or varied tasks; 

5.4.3.15. Make generalizations, evaluations or decisions without immediate 
supervision; 

5.4.3.16. Accept and carry out responsibility for direction, control and planning. 
  

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 022



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 5 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

 

6.0. ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS:  
 

6.1. FREQUENCIES – DAILY (BASED ON A 12-HOUR DAY):  
 

OCCASIONAL: Up to 1/3 of the time;  
 

 FREQUENT: 1/3 to 2/3 of the time; and  
 

 CONTINUOUS: 2/3 or more of the time.   
 

6.2. STRENGTH: Refer to U.S. Dept. of Labor Strength Levels/Categories.   
   

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS  FREQUENCY STRENGTH 

1. Performs firefighting activities: controls and extinguishes structural and wildland fires; 
protects lives and property during fires; responds to fire alarms by donning protective clothing; 
drives or rides to emergency sites; pulls hoses and directs water or chemicals onto fires; creates 
openings for entrance to structures; performs and/or assists with fire rescues; positions and 
climbs ladders; protects property from water and smoke; creates fire breaks; operates all 
necessary apparatus and equipment; and related activities. 

Occasional to 
Continuous 

 
Very Heavy 

2.  Directs and oversees firefighters and engineers in firefighting activities: responds to alarms 
and directs routes to fires; assesses situation; determines and communicates methods to be 
employed; determines needs for additional units; maintains charge of firefighters, equipment, 
and apparatus in absence of Chief; and related activities all performed simultaneously with 
Function 1. 

Occasional to 
Continuous 

Medium 

3.  Responds to emergency medical situations and convalescent medical situations (non-
emergency); responds, drives and/or rides to sites; administers BLS (basic life support) 
treatment to patients; extricates patients from vehicles or confined spaces using hydraulic and 
pneumatic mechanical advantage systems; performs above or below grade rescues, confined 
space rescues, and flood/river rescues using rope rescue and other equipment; and related 
activities. 

Occasional to 
Continuous 

Very Heavy 

4.  Direct and oversees firefighters engaged in responses to emergency medical situations and 
convalescent medical situations (non-emergency): responds to alarms and selects/directs route 
to site; assesses situation; determines and communicates extrication and/or BLS methods to be 
employed; determines needs for additional units; maintains charge of firefighters, equipment, 
and apparatus in absence of Chief; and related activities all performed simultaneously with 
Function 3. 

Occasional to 
Continuous 

Medium 

5.  Performs general supervision of an up to three firefighters and one engineer at an assigned 
station: enforces policies, procedures, and regulations; carries out disciplinary actions; 
participates in annual employee evaluations; and related duties. 

Occasional Light 

6.  Investigates fires to determine origin and cause.   Occasional Light 

7.  Performs, delegates, and oversees vehicle and apparatus maintenance, inspections; 
performs minor repairs to vehicles; reports defects to shop personnel; fuels vehicles; performs 
daily and scheduled inspections and maintenance activities; ensures operational readiness of 
all assigned apparatus and equipment; and stock related supplies.   

Occasional Heavy 

8.  Ensures, stocks, and maintains sufficient medical supplies including medications and 
controlled substances. 

Occasional Light 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 023



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 6 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

9.  Participates in and directs station and grounds maintenance per weekly schedules including 
housekeeping, cleaning, lawn mowing, raking, etc. 

Occasional 
Light to 
Medium 

10. Performs and oversees Company Inspections per quarterly schedules: advises 
businesses/individuals of fire codes, fire hazards, chemical hazards, etc.  Each business or 
commercial building is to be inspected once per year.  Twenty occupancies are inspected per 
quarter. 

Continuous Light 

11. Performs and oversees Wildland/Urban Interface Inspections in Fire Mitigation Zones. Continuous 
Light to 
Medium 

12. Directs and participates in training, drills and evaluations.  By law, 20 hours of training per 
month is required.  Training or drills are conducted in-house (one station) or in combined drills 
with two to three other stations.   

Occasional to 
Frequent 

Sedentary to 
Very Heavy 

13. Directs and participates in physical training activities.  Includes running, bikes, and/or weight 
lifting.  May devise specific program for employees.  As performance of other functions allows, 
one and a half (1.5) hours per day are spent performing these activities.  (Each station has 
physical training are/equipment.  40% to 50% of staff have signed and participate in Department 
Physical Training program.) 

Occasional 
Medium to 

Heavy 

14.  Completes and maintains appropriate logs, paperwork, computer databases, and 
documentation.  Includes California Fire Incident Reports, narratives, critiques, training records, 
etc. 

Occasional Sedentary 

15.  Attends scheduled meetings, monthly management meeting, participates in special 
committee activities, etc. 

Occasional Sedentary 

16.  Participates in public education activities, provides station tours, Fire Awareness Week, and 
other public education activities as requested. 

Occasional Light 

17.  May serve as the Acting Chief Officer in Battalion Chief's absence. Continuous 
Medium/ 

Sedentary 
 

Note:  Employees may be selected to participate in the State of California OES program and/or the North Zone  

ICS (Incident Command System).  Under the OES and in exchange for the use of an OES fire protection 

apparatus, any three or four (depending on the apparatus) qualified employees can be selected to participate in 

an emergency response anywhere in the State of California.  The North Zone  ICS exists to ensure a readily 

accessible pool of qualified personnel to respond to incidents and events such as multi-casualty incidents, search 

and rescue missions, transportation accidents, major natural disasters, planned events and similar occurrences.  

The North Zone  ICS includes 13 area departments.  Employees are certified to participate in designated 

capacities based on training, certifications, and fitness.    

 
6.3. TYPES OF MACHINES, TOOLS AND EQUIPMENT USED ON THE JOB: 

 
6.3.1. Medical supplies (rubber gloves, tape, etc.), medical equipment (defibrillators, 

backboard, scoop stretcher, drug box, gurney, oxygen tanks, etc.), 
hydraulic/pneumatic rescue equipment, hoses, fire nozzle, fire extinguisher, 
extrication tools, forced smoke ejector, rams, streeper kit, chain saws, rotary 
saws, rope rescue equipment, various hand tools, fans, portable generators, 
water vacuum, air chisel, float-a-pump, shovel, ax, pike poles, rake, broom, pry 
bar, brush hooks, Pulaski, mechanic's tools, ladders, radio, headsets, 
breathing apparatus, combustible gas indicator, fire shelters, lawn mower, 
housekeeping equipment, etc. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 024



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 7 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

 
6.4. VEHICLES/MOVING EQUIPMENT DRIVEN ON THE JOB:   
 

6.4.1. Varied firefighting and emergency medical vehicles including Heavy Rescue 
(fire, vehicle extrication, swift water rescue, etc.), Brush Unit (Type III, off-road, 
grade rescues, etc.), Residential (Type I, paved surface), Paramedic (ALS and 
BLS Ambulances), OES (Cal. State provided apparatus), EOC (Emergency 
Operations Center vehicle), and others. 

 

6.4.1.1. Note:  Due to the nature of the essential functions of this position, physical 
factors vary significantly from day-to-day and are more or less demanding 
in some circumstances.  Representative, commonly encountered 
frequencies and durations are indicated.  

 

6.5. ENDURANCE (Primary Demands): 
 

6.5.1. STANDING:        

 
FREQUENCY: Occasional to Frequent - from 3 to 6 hours per shift. 
 
DURATION: Average of 30 to 90 seconds; common maximums of 5 minutes.  Durations refer to time spent without moving/lifting 

the feet; the employee may stay in one area with little movement for durations of 30 to 60 minutes. 
 
SURFACES: Concrete, asphalt, soil, uneven soil, wet soil, gravel/rock, ladder steps/rungs, sloped or pitched surfaces, roofs, 

slippery surfaces, vehicles in motion, etc.  
 
CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, and 16. 

6.5.2. WALKING:        
 

FREQUENCY: Frequent to Continuous, from 7 to 12 hours per shift. 
 

DURATION: Averages of 50 to 200 feet; maximums of one mile or more. 
 

SURFACES: Concrete, asphalt, soil, uneven soil, wet soil, gravel/rock, ladder steps/rungs, sloped or pitched surfaces, roofs, slippery 
surfaces, vehicles in motion, etc.  Walking long distances is often performed in rugged, mountainous terrain. 

 

CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS:  1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, and 16.   

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 025



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 8 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

6.5.3. SITTING:        
 
FREQUENCY: Occasional to Frequent, from 2 to 6 hours per day.   
 
DURATION: Average of 5 to 30 minutes; maximums up to 2 hours. 
 
SEAT STRUCTURE:   Bench and individual vehicle seats, office chairs, floor, ground, etc. 
 

CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS:  1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16. 
 

6.6.  PHYSICAL AGILITY (Primary Demands):   
 

KNEELING, SQUATTING OR CROUCHING:  Occasional to Frequent, from 10 minutes to 2 hours per day.   
 

CRAWLING:  Ten minutes (10) to 2 hours per day. 
 

LYING PRONE/SUPINE:  Zero to 30 minutes. 
 

CLIMBING:  15-60 minutes total.  (Ladders, grades, stairs, vehicles, etc.)  Various vehicle steps/risers measured at 14-24.”   
 

CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS:  1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13. 
 

6.7. STRENGTH (Primary Demands): 
 

6.7.1. LIFTING/CARRYING:        
 

FREQUENCY: Occasional to Continuous, from 90 minutes to 12 hours per shift. 
 
DURATION: Average of 5 to 90 seconds; maximum depends upon situation.  The employee may support weights for as long as 30 

minutes when holding/supporting accident victims, backboards and extraction tools; supported using hands/arms, legs, 
shoulders and back as appropriate.  Includes the up to 40 pounds of equipment (Turnouts - with breathing apparatus) 
worn on the body. 

 

DISTANCES: Average of 50 to 150 feet; maximums of 1 mile or more. 
 
WORK PERFORMED: To lift/carry/position hoses, equipment, debris, victims, etc.  Performed in conjunction with walking, standing, 

reaching at all levels, bending/stooping, twisting, squatting/kneeling, pushing/pulling, gripping and grasping. 
 

WITH THE:  Bilaterally, either hand independently, shoulders, waist/belt, back, etc.  
 

WEIGHTS:  The employee lifts/carries alone and with assistance a wide range of objects and weights from hand tools to victims.  
Specific items include 2½" fire nozzle - 18 lbs., 100 foot 2½" hose with single jacket - 24 lbs., 50 foot 2½" hose with 
coupling structure - 33 lbs., hose pack - 45 lbs., K-12 circular saw - 35 lbs., fire extinguisher - 36 lbs., Blower - 47 lbs., 
Viking extrication tool - 43 lbs., Forced air ejector - 45 lbs., 16 foot extension ladder - 46 lbs., 14' roof ladder - 47 lbs., 24' 
ladder - 80 lbs., 30' ladder - 100 lbs., rams - 25 to 50 lbs., Hurst extrication tool with hoses attached - 75 lbs., chains for 
Hurst tool - 81 lbs., tool box - 83 lbs., gurney - 80 lbs., Amkus power unit - 102 lbs., Amkus spreader - 47.5 lbs., Blackhawk 
extension kit - 87 lbs., and streeper kit - 132 lbs. Victims lifted with assistance may weigh up to 350 pounds. The lift/pull 
force required to slide from the ambulance a gurney holding a 245 lb. man was measured at 125 pounds (~4' to point 
gurney wheels lock and support gurney).  One and two-arm lift/pull required to open hose bed cover (71 and 126 lbs.). 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 026



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 9 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

LEVELS:  All weights may be lifted to mid-torso level; weights to 75 pounds may be lifted without assistance to shoulder level and 
above. 

 
CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13.   

 

6.7.2. PUSHING/PULLING:  

 
FREQUENCY: Occasional to Continuous, from 30 minutes to 8 hours per shift.   
 
DURATION: Average of 10 to 90 seconds; maximums depend upon situation.   
 
WORK PERFORMED: To move/position doors, fire hose, debris, equipment, patients/victims, tools, exercise equipment, foot controls, 

etc., with and without assistance. 
 
WITH THE:  Bilaterally, either hand independently, legs, shoulder. 
 
WEIGHTS/FORCES:  Push/pull forces are estimated from very light to very heavy.  50' of one and one-half inch fire hose holds nine 

gallons of water; 50' of two and one-half inch hose holds 12 ½ gallons of water.  These water weights alone are 
approximately 76 and 106 pounds and are pulled over varied surfaces, debris, and obstructions.  Vehicle 
extrications, rope rescues, work on grades, etc. required push/pull actions at all levels.  For example, pulling 
back the roof of a vehicle to extricate a passenger.  Specific force measurements obtained using the Chatillon 
Digital Force Measurement device are as follows: one-arm pulls (upward motion from ~knee level to shoulder) 
to start motors on chain saws - 24 to 31 lbs. force, blower - 61 lbs. force, generator - 60 to 76 lbs.;  one and two-
arm pulls to raise 28' extension ladder (downward pulls on rope) - 90 to 105 lbs.; one and two-arm lift/pull upward 
from foot-level required to open hose bed cover - 71 and 126 lbs.; maximum force encountered (often over 
shoulder) when pulling out 150' of 2½” hose (dry) - 77 lbs., and when pulling out 100' of 4" hose (dry) - 86 lbs. 
Shoulder level and above push/pull forces may reach approximately 75 pounds of force.  Heavy upward jabs and 
downward pulls are required to remove drop ceilings at fire sites. 

 
LEVELS:  Approximately 20% below waist level; 70% waist to chest level; 10% shoulder level and above.   
 
CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, and 13. 

6.8.  PHYSICAL AGILITY (Primary Demands): 
 

BALANCING:  Occasional to Frequent, 15 minutes to 4 hours total for durations of 30 seconds up to 30 minutes per occurrence.   
 
BENDING/STOOPING: Occasional to Frequent bending/stooping is performed from 15 minutes up 4 hours per shift.  Average 

durations of 10 to 90 seconds; maximum durations of 5 minutes.  Averages of 45 degrees; maximums 
approximately 90 degrees. 

 

RUNNING: Required to evade threat from fire or animals, to respond in emergencies, etc. 
 
TWISTING/TURNING:  Required to evade threat from fire or animals, to respond in emergencies, etc. 
 
CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13. 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 027



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 10 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

6.9. DEXTERITY (Primary Demands): 
 

6.9.1. REACHING:   
 
SHOULDER LEVEL OR ABOVE:  Occasional from 30 minutes to 2 hours per shift for average durations of 30 to 60 seconds; maximum 

durations up to 5 minutes.  (Vehicle handholds at 68", roll-up door on heavy rescue at 87", etc.)   
 
WAIST TO 

CHEST LEVEL: 
Occasional to Continuous waist to chest level reaching is performed from 2 to 8 hours per shift.  Average durations 
of 1 to 5 minutes; maximum durations of 60 minutes each occurrence.  With partial to full extensions of the arms. 

 
BELOW WAIST LEVEL: Occasional to Continuous below waist level reaching is performed from 2 to 8 hours per shift.  Average 

durations of 1 to 5 minutes; maximum durations of 60 minutes each occurrence.  With partial to full extensions 
of the arms. 

 
CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13. 

 

5.1.1. HANDLING/FINGERING – FINGER DEXTERITY:  
 
FREQUENCY:  Occasional to Continuous from 3 up to 12 hours per shift. 
 
DURATION:  Average of 10 to 90 seconds; maximum of 30 minutes at each occurrence. 
 
TYPE: Simple, firm and power whole-hand grasping. 
 
WITH THE:  Bilaterally and either hand independently. 
 
WORK PERFORMED:  Performed in conjunction with reaching, lifting, carrying, pushing, pulling, reaching, torquing, against 

resistance, supporting weight.  More predominant with major hand to manipulate hand and power tools.   
 
CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 14.   

 

6.9.2. HANDLING/FINGERING – FINGER DEXTERITY:  
 
FREQUENCY:  Occasional from 2 to 3 hours per day (currently).  Records currently prepared and maintained on paper forms will in 

the coming months be computerized.  It is anticipated that computer-keyboarding requirements will increase from 1 to 
2 hours to 2 to 4 hours per shift.   

 
DURATION:  Average of 10 to 30 seconds; maximums of 5 minutes.   
 
WITH THE:  Dominant hand (handwriting), either hand independently, both hands (keyboard). 
 
WORK PERFORMED:  To prepare/update logs, reports, schedules, evaluations, training materials, personnel files, etc.; to handle tools, 

bolts, fasteners; to manipulate medical devices and perform medical procedures; to use keys, switches, toggles, 
etc.   

 
CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14, 15 and 16.   

6.9.  DEXTERITY, CONTD.: 
 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 028



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 11 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

TWISTING:   Occasional twisting of the wrists is performed 30 to 90 minutes per shift.  Average durations of 2 to 4 seconds; maximum 
durations of 10 seconds. 

 

WRIST FLEXION/EXTENSION: Occasional flexion/extension is performed 1 to 3 hours per shift.  Average durations of 10 to 30 
seconds; maximum durations of 30 minutes. 

 

WRIST – RADIAL/ULNAR: Occasional radial side and ulnar side deviation is required 10 to 30 minutes per shift.  Average durations of 
1 to 3 seconds; maximum durations of 5 seconds.   

 

CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5.   
      

6.10. CERVICAL MOVEMENT: 
 

EXTENSION: Occasional extension (looking up) is performed 1 to 2 hours per shift.  Average durations of 5 seconds; maximum 
durations of 20 minutes. 

 

ROTATION:  Occasional to Frequent rotation of the neck is performed 1 to 5 hours per shift.  Average durations of 10 to 20 seconds; 
maximum durations of 5 minutes.   

 

FLEXION: Occasion to Frequent flexion (looking down) of the neck is performed 1 to 4 hours per shift.  Average durations of 10 
to 20 seconds; maximum durations of 5 minutes.   

 

NEUTRAL: Frequent to Continuous neutral positioning of the neck is performed 5 to 10 hours per shift.  Average durations of 10 
to 30 seconds; maximum durations of 3 minutes.   

 

CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16.   
                      

6.11. COORDINATION: 
 
EYE-HAND: Continuous in order to handle and manipulate tools and components. 
 
EYE-HAND-FOOT: Occasional to Frequent in order to drive vehicles, operate and manipulate equipment and apparatus.   
 
DRIVING: Occasional to Frequent. 
 
CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16. 
 

6.12. SENSORY: 
 

SPEECH: The employee communicates in English at normal conversational levels and at levels necessary to be heard above 
equipment and noise. 

 

HEARING:  Normal or corrected to normal hearing is required for communication and safety purposes. 
 

VISION: ☒ Near Acuity ☒ Far Acuity ☒ Depth Perception 

 ☒ Color ☒ Field of Vision ☒ Accommodation  
 

SMELL: Normal olfactory sense is used.   
 

CURRENTLY PERFORMED IN FUNCTION NUMBERS: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16.   

  

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 029



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 12 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

6.13. ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS: 
 
The employee works both inside (approximately 20% to 80%) and outside (approximately 0% to 50%) of the time.  He/she is exposed 
to (checked items): 
 
Weather ☒ Extreme Cold ☒ Extreme Heat  ☒ Wet &/or Humid Conditions  ☒ 

        
Vibration ☒ Electrical Shock ☒ High/Exposed Places  ☒ Radiation  ☒ 

        
Moving Parts ☒ Explosives  ☒ Toxic/Caustic Chemicals/Gases  ☒ Dust ☒ 

 
OTHER:  Smoke, fumes, vehicle exhaust, burning plastics, hazardous materials, infectious bodily fluids, communicable diseases, 

traffic and others.  Indoor work places and vehicles are ventilated, heated and air-conditioned.  The work is performed in 
all terrains on all work surfaces, in all weather conditions, visibility, etc. 

 
NOISE LEVELS:  

 Very Quiet  Quiet  Moderate  Loud  Very Loud 

 
PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT:  Uniforms, turnouts, boots, shoes, helmet, gloves, rubber gloves, face shield, breathing apparatus, self-

contained breathing apparatus, fire shelters (aluminum tent shelter worn on belt), particle masks, safety 
glasses, ear protection and others as circumstances dictate. 

 

6.14. MENTAL FACTORS: 
 

6.14.1.  GENERAL EDUCATIONAL DEVELOPMENT: 
 

Reasoning: Apply logical or scientific thinking to define problems, collect data, establish facts, and draw valid conclusions.  
Interpret extensive array of instructions, deal with several abstract and concrete variables. 

 

Mathematics: Complex Skills:  Business math, algebra, geometry, shop math, calculus or statistics. 
 
Reading: Complex Skills: Comprehend manuals (such as maps, policies and procedures, training materials, multi-step instructions 

for dealing with callers, code books), instructions in use of communications equipment (such as computer console, multi-
line telephones and apparatus, safety rules and procedures, and drawings. 

 

Writing: Complex Skills: Prepare business letters, summaries of reports using prescribed format and conforming to all rules of 
English spelling, punctuation, grammar, diction and style. 

 

6.14.2. PERCEPTION: 
 

CLERICAL: Ability to perceive pertinent detail in verbal or tabular material.  To observe differences in computation. 
 

SPATIAL: Ability to recognize the relationships resulting from the movement of objects in space.  Ability to comprehend forms in 
space and understand relationships of plane and solid objects.  May be used in tasks as blueprint reading.  Frequently 
described as the ability to "visualize" object of two or three dimensions, or to think visually of geometric forms.   

 

FORM: Ability to perceive pertinent detail in objects or in pictorial or graphic material.  To make visual comparisons and 
discriminations and see slight differences in shapes and shadings of figures and widths and lengths of line. 

  

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 030



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 225.06  
RULES AND REGULATIONS  March 28, 2023September 21, 2021 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS  Page 13 of 13 

FIRE CAPTAIN (FIRE CAPTAIN/PARAMEDIC) 

 

 

6.14.3. DATA, PEOPLE, THINGS: 
 

DATA: Data are intangible and include numbers, words, symbols, ideas, concepts and oral verbalization: Coordinating, 
Analyzing, Compiling, Copying and Comparing. 

 

PEOPLE: Human beings, dealt with on an individual basis: Instructing, Supervising, Persuading, Speaking/Signaling, Taking 
Instructions and Helping. 

 

THINGS: Inanimate objects as distinguished from human beings, substances or materials; machines, tools, equipment and 
products.  A thing is tangible and has shape, form and other physical characteristics: Operating/Controlling, 
Driving/Operating, Manipulating, Tending and Handling. 

 

6.14.4.  PERSONAL TRAITS: Work functions required by specific job-worker situations, also known as temperaments. 
 

6.14.4.1.  ABILITY TO COMPREHEND AND FOLLOW SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS: 
The ability to maintain attention and concentration for necessary periods, to apply common sense understanding to carry out 
instructions furnished in written oral or diagrammatic form; to adapt to situations requiring the precise attainment of set limits, 
tolerances or standards; to operate-controls which involve starting, stopping, controlling and adjusting the progress of a machine or 
piece of equipment. 
 

6.14.4.2.  ABILITY TO PERFORM SIMPLE AND REPETITIVE TASKS, OR SHORT CYCLE WORK: 
The ability to ask simple questions or request assistance, to perform activities of a routine, concrete, organized nature, to remember 
locations and work procedures; to make decisions based on simple sensory data. 

 

6.14. MENTAL FACTORS: 
 

6.14.1.1.  ABILITY TO MAINTAIN A WORK PACE APPROPRIATE TO A GIVEN WORK LOAD: 
The ability to perform activities with a schedule, maintain regular attendance and to be punctual within specified tolerances, to complete 
a normal work day and/or work week and perform at a consistent pace without unreasonable number and/or length of rest periods; to 
perform effectively when confronted with potential emergency, critical, unusual or dangerous situations, or in situations in which 
working speed and sustained attention are make or break aspects of the job. 
 

6.14.1.2.  ABILITY TO RELATE TO OTHER PEOPLE BEYOND GIVING AND RECEIVING INSTRUCTIONS: 
The ability to get along with co-workers or peers without exhibiting extreme responses, to perform work activities requiring negotiating 
with, instruction, supervising, persuading or speaking; to respond appropriately to criticism from a supervisor. 
 

6.14.1.3.  ABILITY TO INFLUENCE PEOPLE:  
The ability to convince or redirect others; to understand the meaning of words and to use them effectively; to interact appropriately 
with the general public.   
 

6.14.4.6.  ABILITY TO PERFORM COMPLEX OR VARIED TASKS:   
The ability to synthesize, coordinate and analyze data; to perform jobs requiring precise attainment of set limits, tolerances or 
standards. 
 

6.14.4.7.  ABILITY TO MAKE GENERALIZATIONS, EVALUATIONS OR DECISIONS WITHOUT IMMEDIATE SUPERVISION: 
The ability to retain awareness of potential hazards and observe appropriate precautions; to understand and remember detailed 
instructions; to travel in unfamiliar places or use public transportation systems.   
 

6.14.4.8.  ABILITY TO ACCEPT AND CARRY OUT RESPONSIBILITY FOR DIRECTION, CONTROL AND PLANNING:   
The ability to set realistic goals or make plans independently of others; to negotiate with, instruct or supervise people; to respond 
appropriately to changes in the work setting.   

    

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 031



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

GOVERNANCE  SECTION 110.04 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MARCHJUNE 28, 202316  
 PAGE 1 OF 2 

MISSION AND VISION  STATEMENTSORGANIZATIONAL STATEMENTS  

 
 

  

1.0. PURPOSE:  
 

1.1. For the North County Fire Protection District (NCFPD) to have organizational 
statements to drive organizational purpose, direction, and culture. The purpose of 
the Mission and Vision Statements for the North County Fire Protection District are 
to provide visionary statements, which establishes the Department’s purpose and 
gives general direction in establishing programs to fulfill this Mission.  (Refer to the 
following policy for current Departmental Programs.) 

 
2.0. POLICY: 
 
2.1. The Fire Chief/CEO is responsible for ensuring that the NCFPD has a relevant set 

of organizational statements that include (but may not necessarily be limited to) a 
Mission, Vision, Values, and Motto Statement. The organizational statements shall 
be revised periodically by a working group of NCFPD membership and adopted by 
the Board of Directors.  and the North County Fire Protection District Board of 
Directors, shall jointly create, update, adopt and uphold a Mission and Vision 
Statements for the North County Fire Protection District. 

 
3.0. MISSION STATEMENT:  
 

To exceed our communities’ expectation through preparedness, response, and 
recovery. 

3.1. The Mission Statement for North County Fire Protection District shall be:  
  
“To meet our community’s expectations through excellence in public safety and service.” 

 
4.0. VISION STATEMENT:  
 

To foster a healthy and resilient community through service, collaboration, and 
innovation. 

4.1. The Vision Statement for North County Fire Protection District shall be:  
  
“It is our shared vision to be a trusted and respected public safety leader, committed to ensuring  

the safest community possible through service, collaboration and innovation.” 

 
5.0 VALUES STATEMENT: 
 

Duty  
 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 032



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

GOVERNANCE  SECTION 110.04 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MARCHJUNE 28, 202316  
 PAGE 2 OF 2 

MISSION AND VISION  STATEMENTSORGANIZATIONAL STATEMENTS  

 
 

  

• Purposeful action  

• Extreme ownership  

• Selfless service 
 

Respect  
 

• Mindful speech 

• Considerate action 

• Embracing diversity 
 

Integrity  
 

• Honest character 

• Accountable behavior 

• Professionalism 
 
6.0 ORGANIZATYIONAL MOTTO: 
 
 Committed to Serving You 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 033



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 217.01  
BUSINESS MANAGEMENT  MARCH 28DECEMBER 8, 20230 
PURCHASES & SALES  PAGE 1 OF 6 

PURCHASING AND CONTRACTING POLICYMANUAL 

 

 
 

1.0. PURPOSE: 
 

1.1. This Policy is designed to implement and comply with the State Purchasing Statutes 
and to guide District personnel in making economical and sound business decisions 
involving expenditures of District funds. 

 
2.0. POLICY: 

 
2.1. Formal purchasing procedures for local agencies (including “districts”) are 

required under the terms of California Government Code §54202 and the Public 
Contracting Code (“PCC”), §§20810-20813. 

 
2.2. Purchasing of goods and services shall be in accordance with San Diego County 

Competitive Procurement Policy A-87, as directed by PCC §20812, with the 
following threshold limits modified to those outlined in §2-M of Policy A-87 
(presently $3025,000) , pursuant to PCC §20812(c)(1)) and those found inin the 
following specific sections of Policy A-87:  
 

2.2.1. Disabled Veteran Business Enterprises - § 2(G);  
 

2.2.2. Simplified Procurement Procedure for Use of Informal Competitive Process to 
Purchase of Goods and Services -  §2(J);  
 

2.2.3. Approving Amounts forSingle Source Exceptions to Competitive Bidding - §34; 
 

2.2.4. Contract Approval - §6 – all contracts over $3025,000 to be submitted to the 
Board for approval; and  
 

2.2.5. Advertising - §7.   
 

2.3. Purchasing of goods or services between $10,000 and $25,000, not otherwise 
categorically exempt in §2 of Policy A-87, will require obtaining a minimum of three 
(3) quotes. 
 

2.4.2.3. Obtaining contracts for construction projects in excess of 
$10,000 shall be in accordance with PCC §20813, except for “maintenance” 
projects as defined in PCC §22002. 
 

2.4. With a Labor Compliance Program in effect, Public Works projects as defined in 
California Labor Code (“CLC”) §1720, et seq.contracts in excess of $251,000 or 
public works maintenance projects in excess of $15,000 must be registered with 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 034



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 217.01  
BUSINESS MANAGEMENT  MARCH 28DECEMBER 8, 20230 
PURCHASES & SALES  PAGE 2 OF 6 

PURCHASING AND CONTRACTING POLICYMANUAL 

 

 
 

the California Department of Industrial Relations within thirtyfive (305) days of  
contract award, pursuant to California Labor Code (“CLC”) §1773.320.   
 

2.5.2.4.1. If no Labor Compliance Program exists, prevailing wages must 
be paid on all contracted public works projects over $1,000 within the meaning 
of CLC §§1720-1720.9 pursuant to CLC §1771 and such projects must be 
registered with the California Department of Industrial Relations within thirty (30) 
days of  contract award, pursuant to CLC §1773.3.  

 
 
2.6.2.5. District subcontractors are required to follow their employer’s 

written Illness & Injury Prevention Program (“IIPP”).  If no such program exists, 
they are to follow this District’s IIPP Program and Code of Safe Practices prior to 
commencing work. 
 

2.7.2.6. A District contractor is and will act as an independent contractor 
and the contractor and the contractor’s employees, subcontractors and agents are 
not employees, officers or agents of the District.   
 

2.8.2.7. A District contractor shall perform services and obligations 
under a contract according to the contractor's own means and methods of work, 
which shall be in the exclusive charge and under the control of contractor and 
which shall not be subject to control or supervision by the District, except as to the 
results of the work.   
 

2.9.2.8. A DISTRICT CONTRACTOR MUST ACKNOWLEDGE THAT: 
 

2.9.1.2.8.1. The contractor is free from the control and direction of the District in 
connection with the manner and means by which the services are performed; 

 
2.9.2.2.8.2. Contractor performs services outside the usual course of the 

District’s business; and 
 

2.9.3.2.8.3. Contractor is customarily engaged in an independently established 
trade, occupation or business of the same nature as the services performed for 
the District.  

 
3.0. DEFINITIONS:  

 
3.1. CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER:  In instances when the County Policy grants 

authority to the CAO, the District Officer having such authority will be the Fire 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 035



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 217.01  
BUSINESS MANAGEMENT  MARCH 28DECEMBER 8, 20230 
PURCHASES & SALES  PAGE 3 OF 6 

PURCHASING AND CONTRACTING POLICYMANUAL 

 

 
 

Chief/CEO.  
 
3.2. DIRECTOR OF PURCHASING AND CONTRACTING:  In instances when the 

County Policy grants authority to the CAO, the District Officer having such authority 
shall be the Chief Officer for Administration/Finance.  

 
3.3. ASSISTANT CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER: In instances when the County 

Policy grants authority to the ACAO, the District Officer having such authority shall 
be a Division Chief.   

  
3.3.  

 
4.0. INTENT: 

 
4.1. Purchases shall be made as needed, in order to provide the District with maximum 

benefit for minimum expenditures.  It is also essential that purchases of all goods, 
supplies, services and construction items be done by the District in a fair and open 
manner that promotes public confidence in the Agency and reinforces the public 
perception of fairness and equal opportunity for all competing vendors offering their 
products or service to the District.   

 
4.2. Consistent with the above guidelines, purchases should be made from vendors 

located within the boundaries of the District when cost, quality and delivery times 
are equal to or better than quotes provided from distant areas.  State law forbids 
any Director or other Officer of the District from being interested, directly or 
indirectly, in any contract awarded or to be awarded by the Board, or in the profits 
to be derived from it.  

 
5.0. PROCEDURES:   
 

5.1. GENERAL PURCHASING GUIDELINES:  
 

5.1.1. Quote information shall be retained until completion of the Annual Audit for 
the fiscal year in which purchased. 

 
5.1.2. Shipping charges and applicable taxes, if any, must be included in the total 

price shown on the Purchase Order. 
 
5.1.3. Open Accounts shall generally be utilized for the purchase of repetitive need, 

low-valued items or for the purchase of items (such as lumber) which must 
be available on short notice at any time.  Open Accounts shall not be utilized 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 036



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 217.01  
BUSINESS MANAGEMENT  MARCH 28DECEMBER 8, 20230 
PURCHASES & SALES  PAGE 4 OF 6 

PURCHASING AND CONTRACTING POLICYMANUAL 

 

 
 

as a substitute for the normal purchase order process described below.   
 
5.1.4. Nothing in these purchasing guidelines shall prevent the Fire Chief/CEO, or 

his authorized designee, from authorizing purchases outside of these 
guidelines in emergency situations.  

 
5.1.5. Purchases of items not in the Budget will require Board approval prior 

to the purchase except under circumstances outlined herein. 
 

 
 

 
5.2. AWARDING/COMPLETION OF PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACTS:   

 
5.2.1. AWARDING PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACTS: The District shall may only consider 

contracting with vendors registered with the California Department of 
Industrial Relations (“DIR”) to perform “public works” projects in accordance 
with this Policy and California Law. Per California Labor Code (CLC) §1720, 
“Public Works” includes “construction, alteration, demolition, installation or 
repair work, that is paid for in whole or part with public funds.” Visit: 
https://efiling.dir.ca.gov/PWCR/Search to determine if the contractor is 
eligible to perform work for the District.    
 

5.2.2. Applicable Public Works contracts shall be registered with the California 
Department of Industrial Relations (DIR) within thirtyfive (305) days of award 
of contract. Submit a PWC-100 form to the DIR by visiting: 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/pwc100ext/, as required by CLC §1773.3 and 8 Cal. 
Code Reg. §16451(a).   

 
5.2.3. CONTRACT COMPLETION: Upon completion of a Public Works contract, the 

District is required to file a “Notice of Completion” with the DIR, with a copy 
submitted to the Labor Commissioner. A copy of the submitted Notice will be 
kept with the contract file.  

    
5.2.4. REPORTING OFFICER:  The Chief Officer responsible for Facilities shall be the 

District’s designated Reporting Officer, will be responsible for ensuring 
appropriate selection of contractors and that the required Registrations and 
Notices are made/filed.   

 
5.3. PURCHASING PROCEDURES: 
 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 037



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 217.01  
BUSINESS MANAGEMENT  MARCH 28DECEMBER 8, 20230 
PURCHASES & SALES  PAGE 5 OF 6 

PURCHASING AND CONTRACTING POLICYMANUAL 

 

 
 

5.3.1. PETTY CASH PURCHASE.  
 
5.3.2. CREDIT CARD PURCHASE.  
 
5.3.3. PURCHASE ORDERS: 
 

5.3.3.1. Purchase Orders are used to procure goods for the District when: 
 

5.3.3.1.1. The purchase would exceed the limits of a Cal Card single purchase; 
5.3.3.1.2. When close tracking of multiple purchases against an account need 

additional tracking (e.g. Uniforms); 
5.3.3.1.3. When inspection of the goods upon arrival at the District precedes 

payment; or 
5.3.3.1.4. When deemed necessary by Management. 
 

5.3.3.2. Complete a Purchase Order form and obtain the authorizing signature as 
follows: 

 

PURCHASER APPROVING AUTHORITY 
Suppression – Captain & below Program Manager 

Non-Suppression personnel Program Manager 

Battalion Chief Division, Deputy or Fire Chief 

Division Chief Deputy Chief or Fire Chief/CEO 

Deputy Chief Fire Chief/CEO (purchases less than $310,000) 

Fire Chief/CEO Board Member (purchases more than $310,000) 

 
5.3.3.3. Submit the signed form to the Finance Division for a purchase order 

number.  
5.3.3.4. When making the purchase, obtain and sign the receipt, include employee 

ID number and note the purpose of purchase. 
5.3.3.5. Return receipt to the Finance Division. 
5.3.3.6. Finance will assign purchase against specific budget account line item. 

 
5.3. OPEN ACCOUNT: 
 

5.3.1. Obtain approval from Approving Authority. 
 
5.3.2. When making the purchase, obtain and sign the receipt, include Employee ID 

number and note purpose of the purchase.  
 
5.3.3. Return receipt to the Finance Division. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 038



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 217.01  
BUSINESS MANAGEMENT  MARCH 28DECEMBER 8, 20230 
PURCHASES & SALES  PAGE 6 OF 6 

PURCHASING AND CONTRACTING POLICYMANUAL 

 

 
 

  
6.0. EMERGENCIES:   

 
6.1. California Public Contract Code (PCC) §22050 authorizes public agencies to utilize 

special purchasing procedures when emergencies exist.  During emergencies, the 
procedures outlined in PCC §22050 shall be utilized instead of the rules found in 
Section 5.0 of this policy when purchasing special services or construction work.  

 
6.2. SPECIAL SERVICES:  In the case of an emergency, the District Board may adopt 

a resolution by a four-fifths vote of all the members of the District Board, declaring 
that the public interest and necessity demand immediate expenditure of public 
money for special services in order to safeguard life, health or property.  The Board 
may expend any sum for special services as may be required in the emergency 
without submitting the expenditure to bid. 

  
6.3. CONSTRUCTION:  In the case of an emergency, the District Board may adopt a 

resolution by a four-fifths vote of all the members of the District Board, declaring 
that the public interest and necessity demand immediate expenditure of public 
money to safeguard life, health or property.  The District Board may expend any 
sum required in the emergency for the construction or completion of any building 
structure or improvement without submitting the expenditure to bid.  

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 039



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION SECTION 211.15 
BUSINESS MANAGEMENT MARCH 28, 2023 
BUDGET & FUND MANAGEMENT  PAGE 1 OF 2 

INVESTMENT POLICY INVESTMENT POLICY    

 

1.0. PURPOSE: 
 

1.1. The State Legislature has declared the deposit and investment of public funds by 
local officials and local agencies is an issue of statewide concern (Government 
Code (GC) § 53600.6 and § 53630.1); and, 
1.1.  

1.2. GCovernment Code §§Sections 53601, et seq., allow the legislative body of a 
local agency to invest surplus monies not required for the immediate necessities 
of the local agency; and, 
1.2.  

1.3. The treasurer or fiscal officer of a local agency is required to annually prepare and 
submit a statement of investment policy and such policy, and any changes thereto, 
is to be considered by the local agency’s legislative body at a public meeting (GC 
§ 53646(a)). The statement shall also be annually presented to any oversight 
agency of the local agency. 
1.3.  

1.4. For these reasons, and to ensure prudent and responsible management of the 
public’s funds, it is the policy of the District to invest funds in a manner which will 
provide the highest investment return with the maximum security while meeting 
the daily cash flow demands of the District and conforming to all statutes 
governing the investment of District funds as defined in GC § 53600, et seq. 
 

2.0. SCOPE:  
 

2.1. This investment policy applies to all financial assets of the District. These funds 
are accounted for in the annual audited financial statements of the District. 
 

3.0. POLICY:  
 

3.1. The Board and persons authorized to make investment decisions subject to these 
policies are fiduciaries subject to the prudent investor standard. When investing, 
reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, exchanging, selling, or managing public funds, 
a fiduciary shall act with care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the 
circumstances then prevailing, including, but not limited to, the general economic 
conditions and the anticipated needs of the Districtagency, that a prudent person 
acting in a like capacity and familiarity with those matters would use in the conduct 
of funds of a like character and with like aims, to safeguard the principal and 
maintain the liquidity needs of the District. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 040



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION SECTION 211.15 
BUSINESS MANAGEMENT MARCH 28, 2023 
BUDGET & FUND MANAGEMENT  PAGE 2 OF 2 

INVESTMENT POLICY INVESTMENT POLICY    

 

3.1.  
3.2. Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then 

prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the 
management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, 
considering the probable safety of capital as well as the probable income to be 
derived. 
 

3.3. Investment officers acting in accordance with written procedures and the 
investment policy and exercising due diligence shall be relieved of personal 
responsibility for an individual security’s credit risk or market price changes, 
provided deviations from policy or expectations are reported in the next issued 
quarterly treasury report and appropriate actions are taken to control adverse 
developments. When a deviation poses a significant risk to the District’s financial 
position, the fiscal officer shall notify the Board immediately. 

 

4.0. OBJECTIVES:  
 
4.1. As specified in GC § 53600.5, when investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, 

exchanging, selling or managing public funds, the primary objectives of the 
investment activities, in priority order, shall be: 

 
4.1.1. SafetySAFETY: Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the 

investment program. Investments of the District shall be undertaken in a 
manner that seeks to ensure the preservation of capital in the whole portfolio. 
To attain this objective, diversification is required in order that potential losses 
on individual securities do not exceed the income generated from the 
remainder of the portfolio. 

 
4.1.2. LiquidityLIQUIDITY: The secondary objective shall be to meet the liquidity 

needs of the District. 
 

4.1.3. YieldYIELD: The third objective shall be to achieve a return on the funds 
under the District’s control. 
 

5.0. REPORTING:  
 
5.1. The District will comply with the reporting requirements as defined in GC §53646 

et seq. and GC § 53607. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 041



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 218.04 

BUDGET MANAGEMENT  MARCH 28, 2023 JULY 23, 1999 

TAXES & REVENUE  PAGE 1 OF 2 
INTEREST INCOME  

 
1. PURPOSE:  
 
1.1. To describe the procedure for the investment, reception, processing and 

distribution of interest income revenues. 
 
2. POLICY:   
 
2.1. The North County Fire Protection District shall utilize interest income  revenues 

primarily for the purposes of supporting and funding Fire Department  operational 
costs.   
 

2.1.2.2. Other uses of interest income revenues shall be determined according to 
priority as decided by the Board of Directors through the approval of the annual 
budget and at the recommendation of the Fire Chief/CEO on an as-needed basis. 

 
3. INTENT:   
 
3.1. The intent of this policy is to describe how interest income revenues are handled, 

but is in no way intended to restrict the fiscal flexibility requisite to managing the 
District’s overall affairs.  This policy can be amended as-needed to suit the 
changing needs of the District. 

 
4. PROCEDURE: 

 
4.1. GUARANTEED INVESTMENT CONTRACT (GIC)/TAX REVENUE 

ANTICIPATION NOTES FUND (TRANS):  The GIC/TRANS account is a 
mechanism whereby a special district may borrow monies against anticipated tax 
revenues to supply funding during “dry” funding periods.  An additional benefit is 
the ability to arbitrage investments and generate interest income.  The loan amount 
is determined annually by the GIC administrator (currently Sutro & Co.) and is 
funded on July 1st of each fiscal year.  These monies are then transferred directly 
to the TRANs investment fund. The District receives quarterly statements on the 
fund activity and balance.  Interest payments are disbursed directly to the District’s 
general fund (Co. of San Diego Investment Fund) at the end of each fiscal year, 
and the loan principal is repaid to GIC.   
 

4.2. LOCAL AGENCY INVESTMENT FUND (LAIF):   LAIF is a separate investment 
account available to cities and local agencies administered by the State of 
California Treasurer’s Office.  Monies depositedDeposits in LAIF are residual 
unused loan principal retained from the Vehicle Maintenance 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 042



 

NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 

ADMINISTRATION  SECTION 218.04 

BUDGET MANAGEMENT  MARCH 28, 2023 JULY 23, 1999 

TAXES & REVENUE  PAGE 2 OF 2 
INTEREST INCOME  

 
Facility/Communications Center upgrade project.are from grants, sale of land and 
equipment, and other sources.  These monies comprise a portion of the District’s 
reserve funds.  The District receives quarterly statements from LAIF and annual 
quarterly interest disbursements, similar to GIC/TRANs.  However, interest income 
is reinvested into the LAIF account; there is no net revenue increase to the 
District’s total general revenue.  
 

4.3. PUBLIC AGENCY SELF INSURANCE SYSTEM (PASIS):  PASIS is the District’s 
self insurance worker’s compensation insurance carrier.  The District is required to 
maintain a $400,000 minimum account balance to cover anticipated annual 
industrial injury claims.  Interest is paid to the District for unused portions of these 
monies annuallyquarterly.  The PASIS account is deposited in LAIF and 
administered by the State of California Treasurers Office.  Refer to the Workers 
Compensation Account policy for more information.  
 

4.3.4.4. CALIFORNIA COOPERATIVE LIQUID ASSETS SECURITIES SYSTEM 
(California CLASS): California CLASS is a separate investment account that was 
created as a joint exercise of powers entity authorized under Section 6509.7 of 
the, California Government Code. California CLASS is a pooled investment option 
that was created by California public agencies and offers the District a convenient 
method for investing in highly liquid, investment-grade securities carefully selected 
to optimize interest earnings while maximizing safety and liquidity.  Deposits with 
CLASS are from grants, sale of land and equipment, and other sources.  These 
monies comprise a portion of the District’s reserve funds.  The District receives 
quarterly statements from CLASS and annualquarterly interest disbursements, 
similar to GIC/TRANs.  However, interest income is reinvested into the CLASS 
account; there is no net revenue increase to the District’s total general revenue. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 043

file://///arctic/Company/102-Admin/R&R/Policy%20&%20Procedure/Administration/Business%20Management/Budget%20&%20Fund%20Management/Workers%20Comp%20Account.doc
file://///arctic/Company/102-Admin/R&R/Policy%20&%20Procedure/Administration/Business%20Management/Budget%20&%20Fund%20Management/Workers%20Comp%20Account.doc


 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 044



 

N
o

r
th

 C
o

u
n

ty
 F

ir
e
 

 

 
 

M
O

N
T
H

L
Y
 O

P
E
R
A
T
IO

N
S
 

A
C
T
IV

IT
Y
 R

E
P
O

R
T
: 

 

F
e
b

 2
0

2
3

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 045



A
s
s
ig

n
e
d
 I

n
c
id

e
n
ts

 
 

 
 

 

T
o

ta
l 

in
c
id

e
n

ts
 y

e
a
r
 t

o
 d

a
te

: 

F
e
b

 2
0

2
2

: 
1

,1
2

1
 

F
e
b

 2
0

2
3

: 
1

,1
4

2
 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 046



In
c
id

e
n
ts

 i
n
 J

u
ri
s
d
ic

ti
o
n
 

 

 
 

T
o

ta
l 

in
c
id

e
n

ts
 y

e
a
r
 t

o
 d

a
te

: 

F
e
b

 2
0

2
2

: 
9

6
4

 

F
e
b

 2
0

2
3

: 
9

7
9

 

 
 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 047



 

T
u
rn

o
u
t 

T
im

e
 

(T
im

e
 o

f 
s
ta

ti
o
n
 n

o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 r

e
s
p
o
n
d
in

g
) 

 

9
0

th
 P

e
rc

e
n
ti
le

 –
 E

m
e
rg

e
n
c
y
 C

a
ll
s
 O

n
ly

 

  

 
 

 
  

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 048



A
id

 G
iv

e
n
/R

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 

 

  
 

  

 
 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 049



 

In
c
id

e
n
t 

V
o
lu

m
e
 b

y
 H

o
u
r 

   

 
        

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 050



In
c
id

e
n
ts

 b
y
 U

n
it
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 051



A
m

b
u
la

n
c
e
 U

n
it
 H

o
u
r 

U
ti
li
z
a
ti
o
n
 

 

  

 

  

     

 
 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 052



 

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

s
 

 
 

 
     

 
 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 053



 

H
e
a
lt
h
 &

 S
a
fe

ty
 

 

 
In

ju
ri
e
s
 &

 

Il
ln

e
s
s
 

 
 

 

A
c
c
id

e
n
ts

 

 

 
 

1
 I

n
ju

r
ie

s
 

 

 
 

 

0
 V

e
h

ic
le

 

 

 

   

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 054



S T A F F  R E P O R T   

Page 1 of 1 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

FROM: CHIEF MCREYNOLDS, FIRE CHIEF/CEO & BOARD CLERK CANPINAR

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023 

SUBJECT: SAN DIEGO LAFCO 2023 ELECTION REGULAR AND ALTERNATE SPECIAL 

DISTRICT MEMBER ON LAFCO COMMISSION

ACTION AGENDA  

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Board of Directors authorize the President to cast a ballot in the 2023 San Diego LAFCO 
Special Districts Election as described in the attached communication from LAFCO. 

BACKGROUND: 

On a routine basis, the Board of Directors has the opportunity cast a ballot in the San Diego Local 
Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) elections. On December 19, 2022, LAFCO solicited 
nominations to fill a vacant term as a regular or alternate special district member on the LAFCO 
Commission.  At that time, the Board nominated Director Ross Pike as a Regular Special District 
Member. The time has now come to vote, and submissions are due by Friday, April 14, 2023.

DISCUSSION:

A total of five nominations (Attachment 1) were received following a 60-day filing period: three regular 
members and two alternate members, as follows (names listed are in random selection determined 
by LAFCO):  

Alternate 
 David Drake (Rincon del Diablo Municipal Water District) 
 Jeff Griffith (Vallecitos Water District) 

Regular 
 James Pennock (Vallecitos Water District) 
 Ross Pike (North County Fire Protection District) 
 Barry Willis (Alpine Fire Protection District) 

Full nomination materials and letters of support are available in the attached LAFCO package. 

FISCAL ANALYSIS:  No fiscal impact.

SUMMARY: 

The Board should determine which nominee(s) it wishes to support and authorize the President 
to cast a ballot for the 2023 LAFCO election. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 055



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 1 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 056



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 057



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 058



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 059



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 060



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 061



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 062



February 21, 2023

Dear San Diego County Special Districts,

I’ve had the pleasure of traveling around San Diego County over the past few weeks to meet many of you and it has been
enlightening to hear about the experiences your districts are facing and how you interact with SDLAFCO. Thank you for your
time and for sharing your stories!

SDLAFCO encourages orderly growth, promotes the logical formation and determination of local agency boundaries,
discourages urban sprawl, and preserves open space and prime agricultural lands. From there, our Special Districts provide
essential services to constituents, ratepayers, and community residents to achieve the goals of their unique agencies. Our
SDLAFCO Commissioners present as one of the few outlets for representation and it’s important that our Commissioners work
to provide better collaboration between SDLAFCO and our Special Districts. As Directors, Trustees, and Board members, we
understand that our agencies must adapt to the changing world we live in and our Special Districts must have a voice in the
process that impacts them.

I am uniquely qualified and have been fortunate to be nominated by North County Fire Protection District and received
support from Mission Resource Conservation District where I serve as a new Board Member. Also, serving on a Community
Planning Group has provided me an education in land use experience where I serve on subcommittees advising on roads,
traffic, and public facilities. All these roles require close attention to detail, commitment to the community, and dedication.
That experience provides critical perspectives when voting on matters before SDLAFCO.

As a leader in the recent redistricting efforts, I attended every redistricting commission meeting which often would go on until
nearly midnight and was able to activate our Community Planning Group in the process. Fallbrook was the first Planning
Group to send a letter to the Redistricting Commission and the two letters I authored were well-received which resulted in
bipartisan support and unanimous votes by my colleagues. I also led the community to submit comments with 397 comments
mentioning Fallbrook compared to 470 comments for Oceanside, a city more than triple our size. Our efforts were successful
and the input we submitted helped shape the final map of Supervisor District 5.

Local control matters.  We represent the communities we live in and serve. We know what is best for our neighbors because we
live in the same community as them. Serving as an alternate and attending the meetings for the North County Dispatch Joint
Powers Authority has allowed for me to see how both Special Districts and cities were able to band together to provide
essential services at healthy savings to our taxpayers by each district and city bringing their own independent perspectives and
skills/services to the table, all while still maintaining all of our own local autonomy.

 Please reach out to me if you have any questions or want to talk about anything. I always tell my constituents that they elect
me to do a job, which means to get things done effectively and thoughtfully. I not only welcome your input, but I ask for it. As
your Special District Representative to SDLAFCO, I would represent you and ensure that the voice of the Special Districts in San
Diego County is heard.

Thank you for your time and consideration. I respectfully ask for your Board’s vote to represent you and all our special
districts as the Special Districts Representative on the San Diego Local Agency Formation Commission.

Respectfully,

Ross Pike
Director
North County Fire Protection District
rpike@ncfire.org

N O R T H  C O U N T Y  F I R E  P R O T E C T I O N  D I S T R I C T

ROSS P I KE

Regular Board Meeting, March 28, 2023 063



Bellevue University
Business Management

Grand Rapids Community College
Communications Advise San Diego County, County Supervisors, and SANDAG on Fallbrook land use matters

Led community redistricting efforts by drafting public statements and organizing strategic initiatives,
including two letters sent by the Fallbrook Planning Group that inspired other planning groups to send letters
Serve on the Circulation (roads, traffic circulation, and sidewalks) and Public Facilities Committees (utility-
related projects)
Member of the Ad-Hoc Social Media Committee to establish social media guidelines for the Fallbrook Planning
Group and its members
As Board Secretary, drafted board and committee agendas, issued information to the local newspaper, and
disseminated information through social media reaching an average of 1,800-2,800 people per post
Write speeches and prepares talking points for weekly public engagements  

People & Business Leadership
Bellevue University

Managed daily campaign operations
Supervised staff in various roles including communications, field operations, and volunteer recruitment
Drafted and disseminated campaign messaging through media, surrogates, and digital outlets
Coordinated calendar for speaking engagements, fundraisers, and community appearances
Interfaced with community groups, elected officials, partnering campaigns, and political organizations
Coordinated with 23 overlapping campaigns (school board, city council, special districts) in the 2,200 square-
mile district

C E R T I F I C A T I O N S

rpike@ncfire.org

P E R S O N A L

E D U C A T I O N

N O R T H  C O U N T Y  F I R E  P R O T E C T I O N  D I S T R I C T

ROSS P I KE

760-723-2012 (office)

M E M B E R S H I P S  &
A F F I L I A T I O N S

Fallbrook Chamber of
Commerce
California Special Districts
Association (CSDA)
Society for Human Resource
Management (SHRM)
American Management
Association
American Association of
Political Consultants (AAPC)
Young Elected Officials
Network

E L E C T E D  &  A P P O I N T E D  L E A D E R S H I P

ELECTED BOARD MEMBER
FALLBROOK COMMUNITY PLANNING GROUP | Jan 2021 - present

CHIEF OF STAFF/CAMPAIGN MANAGER
COUNTY SUPERVISOR CAMPAIGN  | Feb 2022 - Dec 2022

"Benham Service & Civic Engagement
Award" for civic engagement and
community outreach (2012)

"Awesome Award" on behalf of Rady
Children's Hospital for Children's
Miracle Network fundraising (2021)

A W A R D S  &
R E C O G N I T I O N

Leading Diverse Teams
University of California-Irvine

ELECTED DIRECTOR, BOARD OF DIRECTORS
NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT  | Jul 2022 - present

North County Fire serves a 90 square-mile area including Fallbrook, Bonsall, De Luz, and Rainbow  
Through labor negotiations, secured the highest bilingual incentive pay in San Diego County to ensure the
district, serving our 50% Latino community ensuring culturally-competent care
Use pre-established relationships in order to build coalitions connecting NCFPD leadership with potential
grants, funding, and lobbying opportunities
Partner with community organizations and nonprofits to ensure we are providing the highest level of care and
services are reaching as many community members as possible

ncfire.org/board-director-ross-
pike

R E L E V A N T  W O R K  E X P E R I E N C E

L O C A L  C O M M U N I T Y  S E R V I C E  &  L E A D E R S H I P

ALTERNATE, BOARD OF DIRECTORS
NORTH COUNTY DISPATCH JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY (JPA)  | Jul 2022 - present
     North County Dispatch Joint Powers Authority, or North Comm, provides fire and medical emergency dispatch
services to most city fire departments and fire district agencies in North San Diego County and private security
dispatch to the Rancho Santa Fe Patrol.

     MRCD works to promote the conservation of soil, water, and other natural resources in the San Luis Rey and
Santa Margarita watersheds through effective planning that ensures a healthy ecosystem and provides economic
benefits and quality of life for landowners/land occupants and the general public. Through partnerships with
water agencies, MRCD works with ratepayers to assist with conservation and savings on water bills.

APPOINTED DIRECTOR, BOARD OF DIRECTORS
MISSION RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT  | Jan 2023 - present

Member, Fallbrook Chamber of Commerce

Advisor, Board of Directors, Fallbrook Village Association

Member, Friends of the Fallbrook Library

which promotes and supports the economic, physical and cultural revitalization of the Fallbrook area.

led the committee to establish the organization's first strategic plan

Fundraiser, Fallbrook Animal Sanctuary

Member & Fundraiser, Fallbrook Land Conservancy

Strategic Steering Committee Chair, Fallbrook Village Association

Successful Negotiation
University of Michigan

Regular Board Meeting, March 28, 2023 064

tel:760-723-2012


Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 065



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 066



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 067



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 068



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 069



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 070



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 071



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 072



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 073



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 074



S T A F F  R E P O R T

Page 1 of 2 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FROM: CHIEF MCREYNOLDS & BOARD CLERK CANPINAR

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023 

SUBJECT: RESOLUTION 2023-02 SUPPORTING ASSEMBLY BILL 557 

ACTION AGENDA  

RECOMMENDATION:  

That the NCFPD Board of Directors consider a Board Resolution taking a position of 
support for Assembly Bill 557 (AB 557) related to emergency remote meeting procedures 
under the Ralph M. Brown Act. 

BACKGROUND:

The California Special Districts Association (CSDA) is advocating that government 
leaders support AB 557 (Attachment 1) and encourage all California special districts to 
join the coalition by passing a Board Resolution (Attachment 2) and submitting a letter of 
support (Attachment 3) for AB 557. 

Local agencies have effectively utilized the procedures established by AB 361 to meet 
remotely during the COVID-19 pandemic. The COVID-19 state of emergency in California 
terminated at the end of February 2023, whereupon local agencies will no longer be able to 
use AB 361 for COVID-19-related reasons. However, local agencies may rely on AB 361’s 
provisions after February should there be a different emergency (e.g. wildfires, earthquakes, 
etc.) that makes it unsafe to meet in-person, so long as that emergency is accompanied by 
a formal state of emergency declaration made by the Governor.  

This will be the case until the end of 2023. After that point, the provisions added to the Brown 
Act by AB 361 “sunset”, or expire, on their own terms and local agencies will lose statutory 
authority for remote emergency meetings established by AB 3611. In order to preserve the 
modified remote meeting procedures beyond the end of 2023, CSDA has sponsored AB 
557, which would abolish the sunset that would otherwise repeal these procedures.  

AB 557 also makes one minor change to the timeframe for the renewal resolutions required 
under the AB 361 framework. Currently, the terms of AB 361 require an agency looking to 
rely on its provisions beyond 30 days to pass a resolution recognizing that the state of 
emergency prompting the transition to remote meetings remains active, and that conditions 

1 In addition, AB 2449, effective January 1, 2023, amended the Brown Act to ease teleconferencing at 
public meetings as long as a quorum of the legislative body participates in person from a physical location 
open to the public; the remaining agency members can participate remotely if necessary. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 075



RESOLUTION SUPPORTING ASSEMBLY BILL 557 
MARCH 28, 2023 
PAGE 2 OF 2 

persist that prevent the agency from holding meetings safely in-person. AB 557 would 
change this to 45 days, providing agencies with an additional two weeks and 
accommodating those agencies that meet monthly on a fixed date that may occasionally fall 
outside of the original 30-day window provided by AB 361.  

DISCUSSION:

While California seeks to transition to a post-COVID era, the threat of additional 
emergencies remains, as has been made abundantly clear by recent wildfires and 
flooding. Absent any legislative intervention, the processes established by AB 361 to 
provide remote meeting flexibility to local agencies in emergency circumstances will 
expire at the end of this year. To remain best equipped to address future emergencies 
and allow local agencies to effectively react and respond, AB 557 would eliminate the 
sunset on the emergency remote meeting procedures added to California Government 
Code section 54953. Additionally, AB 557 would adjust the timeframe for the resolutions 
passed to renew an agency’s temporary transition to emergency remote meetings to 45 
days, up from the previous number of 30 days. 

FISCAL ANALYSIS:  

There is no fiscal impact to the District. 

SUMMARY:

Assembly Bill 557 will preserve an effective tool for North County Fire Protection District 
when facing emergencies that would otherwise prevent conducting the people’s business 
when faced with an emergency. Given these concerns, Staff recommend the Board take 
a position supporting AB 557 and adoption Resolution 2023-02. 

Attachments: 

Attachment 1: Bill Text of AB 557 
Attachment 2: Draft Resolution 
Attachment 3: Draft Letter in Support of AB 557 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 076



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 1 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 077



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 1/12

SHARE THIS: Date Published: 02/08/2023 09:00 PM

ASSEMBLY BILL NO. 557

AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences. (2023-2024)

CALIFORNIA LEGISLATURE— 2023–2024 REGULAR SESSION

Introduced by Assembly Member Hart

February 08, 2023

An act to amend and repeal Section 54953 of the Government Code, relating to local government.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 557, as introduced, Hart. Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

(1) Existing law, the Ralph M. Brown Act, requires, with specified exceptions, that all meetings of a legislative
body of a local agency, as those terms are defined, be open and public and that all persons be permitted to
attend and participate. The act contains specified provisions regarding providing for the ability of the public to
observe and provide comment. The act allows for meetings to occur via teleconferencing subject to certain
requirements, particularly that the legislative body notice each teleconference location of each member that will
be participating in the public meeting, that each teleconference location be accessible to the public, that
members of the public be allowed to address the legislative body at each teleconference location, that the
legislative body post an agenda at each teleconference location, and that at least a quorum of the legislative
body participate from locations within the boundaries of the local agency’s jurisdiction. The act provides an
exemption to the jurisdictional requirement for health authorities, as defined.

Existing law, until January 1, 2024, authorizes a local agency to use teleconferencing without complying with
those specified teleconferencing requirements in specified circumstances when a declared state of emergency is
in effect, or in other situations related to public health, as specified. If there is a continuing state of emergency,
or if state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing, existing law
requires a legislative body to make specified findings not later than 30 days after the first teleconferenced
meeting, and to make those findings every 30 days thereafter, in order to continue to meet under these
abbreviated teleconferencing procedures.

Existing law requires a legislative body that holds a teleconferenced meeting under these abbreviated
teleconferencing procedures to give notice of the meeting and post agendas, as described, to allow members of
the public to access the meeting and address the legislative body, to give notice of the means by which members
of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment, including an opportunity for all persons to
attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service option. Existing law prohibits a legislative body that holds

Home Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 078

https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https%3A//leginfo.legislature.ca.gov%3A443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml%3Fbill_id=202320240AB557&t=20232024AB-557&
https://twitter.com/home?status=20232024AB-557%20https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov:443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557&


3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 2/12

a teleconferenced meeting under these abbreviated teleconferencing procedures from requiring public comments
to be submitted in advance of the meeting and would specify that the legislative body must provide an
opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.

This bill would extend the above-described abbreviated teleconferencing provisions when a declared state of
emergency is in effect, or in other situations related to public health, as specified, indefinitely. The bill would also
extend the period for a legislative body to make the above-described findings related to a continuing state of
emergency and social distancing to not later than 45 days after the first teleconferenced meeting, and every 45
days thereafter, in order to continue to meet under the abbreviated teleconferencing procedures.

The bill would additionally make nonsubstantive changes to those provisions and correct erroneous cross
references .

(2) The California Constitution requires local agencies, for the purpose of ensuring public access to the meetings
of public bodies and the writings of public officials and agencies, to comply with a statutory enactment that
amends or enacts laws relating to public records or open meetings and contains findings demonstrating that the
enactment furthers the constitutional requirements relating to this purpose.

This bill would make legislative findings to that effect.
Vote: majority   Appropriation: no   Fiscal Committee: no   Local Program: no  

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.  Section 54953 of the Government Code, as amended by Section 1 of Chapter 285 of the Statutes of
2022, is amended to read:

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as otherwise provided in this
chapter.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use
teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all
otherwise applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a
specific type of meeting or proceeding.

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any
meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. If the legislative body of a local agency
elects to use teleconferencing, the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the following:

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall.

(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency.

(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as otherwise required by this
chapter.

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the meeting and the agenda shall
provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to
Section 54954.3.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the
meeting or proceeding, and each teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the
teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within
the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in
subdivisions (d) and (e).

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 079



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 3/12

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a
final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local
agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final
action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act
(Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in
the process of developing the recommendation.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference
locations within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is
established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections
14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
any joint powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of
Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and
any advisory committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with
Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without complying with the requirements
of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if the legislative body complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this
subdivision in any of the following circumstances:

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local officials
have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing.

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of
determining, by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present
imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(C) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency and has determined, by
majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would
present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do all of the following:

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by
which members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda shall identify
and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service option.

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting to
members of the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a
disruption within the local agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public
comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further
action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items during a disruption that prevents
the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.

(C) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and
must provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of
an internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 080



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 4/12

requires registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party
internet website or online platform to participate.

(E) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each agenda item shall not close
the public comment period for the agenda item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph
(F), (D), to provide public comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed.

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment period, but takes public comment
separately on each agenda item, shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public
members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time for members of the public to
register pursuant to subparagraph  (F), (D), or otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing
public comment.

(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period that does not correspond to a
specific agenda item shall not close the public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to
subparagraph (F), (D), until the timed general public comment period has elapsed.

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, or state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures
to promote social distancing, in order to continue to teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b), the legislative body shall, not later than  30 45 days after teleconferencing for the first time
pursuant to subparagraph (A), (B), or (C) of paragraph (1), and every  30 45 days thereafter, make the
following findings by majority vote:

(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency.

(B) Any of the following circumstances exist:

(i) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in
person.

(ii) State or local officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing.

(4) This subdivision shall not be construed to require the legislative body to provide a physical location from
which the public may attend or comment.

(f) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without complying with paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b) if, during the teleconference meeting, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body
participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda, which location shall be
open to the public and situated within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises
jurisdiction and the legislative body complies with all of the following:

(A) The legislative body shall provide at least one of the following as a means by which the public may
remotely hear and visually observe the meeting, and remotely address the legislative body:

(i) A two-way audiovisual platform.

(ii) A two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting.

(B) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by
which members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment.

(C) The agenda shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend and address the legislative
body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 via a call-in option, via an internet-based service option, and at
the in-person location of the meeting.

(D) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting to
members of the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a
disruption within the local agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public
comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further
action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items during a disruption that prevents
the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 081



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 5/12

(E) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and
must provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.

(F) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of
an internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that
requires registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party
internet website or online platform to participate.

(2) A member of the legislative body shall only participate in the meeting remotely pursuant to this
subdivision, if all of the following requirements are met:

(A) One of the following circumstances applies:

(i) The member notifies the legislative body at the earliest opportunity possible, including at the start of
a regular meeting, of their need to participate remotely for just cause, including a general description of
the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting. The provisions of this
clause shall not be used by any member of the legislative body for more than two meetings per calendar
year.

(ii) The member requests the legislative body to allow them to participate in the meeting remotely due to
emergency circumstances and the legislative body takes action to approve the request. The legislative
body shall request a general description of the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at
the given meeting. A general description of an item generally need not exceed 20 words and shall not
require the member to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or any personal medical information
that is already exempt under existing law, such as the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Chapter
1 (commencing with Section 56) of Part 2.6 of Division 1 of the Civil Code). For the purposes of this
clause, the following requirements apply:

(I) A member shall make a request to participate remotely at a meeting pursuant to this clause as
soon as possible. The member shall make a separate request for each meeting in which they seek to
participate remotely.

(II) The legislative body may take action on a request to participate remotely at the earliest
opportunity. If the request does not allow sufficient time to place proposed action on such a request
on the posted agenda for the meeting for which the request is made, the legislative body may take
action at the beginning of the meeting in accordance with paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) of Section
54954.2.

(B) The member shall publicly disclose at the meeting before any action is taken, whether any other
individuals 18 years of age or older are present in the room at the remote location with the member, and
the general nature of the member’s relationship with any such individuals.

(C) The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology.

(3) The provisions of this subdivision shall not serve as a means for any member of a legislative body to
participate in meetings of the legislative body solely by teleconference from a remote location for a period of
more than three consecutive months or 20 percent of the regular meetings for the local agency within a
calendar year, or more than two meetings if the legislative body regularly meets fewer than 10 times per
calendar year.

(g) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for
reasonable accommodation for individuals with disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities
Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. In each instance in which
notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the
legislative body shall also give notice of the procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation.

(h) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent with applicable civil rights and
nondiscrimination laws.

(i) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the public with additional
teleconference locations.

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing  members of  the public with additional
physical locations in which the public may observe and address the legislative body by electronic means.

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 082



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 6/12

(j) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:

(1) “Emergency circumstances” means a physical or family medical emergency that prevents a member from
attending in person.

(2) “Just cause” means any of the following:

(A) A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic
partner that requires them to participate remotely. “Child,” “parent,” “grandparent,” “grandchild,” and
“sibling” have the same meaning as those terms do in Section 12945.2.

(B) A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person.

(C) A need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in Sections 12926 and 12926.1 not
otherwise accommodated by subdivision (g).

(D) Travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or local agency.

(3) “Remote location” means a location from which a member of a legislative body participates in a meeting
pursuant to subdivision (f), other than any physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting.
Remote locations need not be accessible to the public.

(4) “Remote participation” means participation in a meeting by teleconference at a location other than any
physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting. Watching or listening to a meeting via
webcasting or another similar electronic medium that does not permit members to interactively hear, discuss,
or deliberate on matters, does not constitute remote participation.

(5) “State of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to Section 8625 of the California
Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing with Section 8550) of Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2).

(6) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different locations,
connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both.

(7) “Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides participants with the ability to
participate in a meeting via both an interactive video conference and a two-way telephonic function.

(8) “Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not require internet access, is not
provided as part of a two-way audiovisual platform, and allows participants to dial a telephone number to listen
and verbally participate.

(9) “Webcasting” means a streaming video broadcast online or on television, using streaming media
technology to distribute a single content source to many simultaneous listeners and viewers.

(k) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1,  2024, 2026, and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 2. Section 54953 of the Government Code, as amended by Section 2 of Chapter 285 of the Statutes of
2022, is amended to read:

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as otherwise provided in this
chapter.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use
teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all
otherwise applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a
specific type of meeting or proceeding.

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any
meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. If the legislative body of a local agency
elects to use teleconferencing, the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the following:

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall.

(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency.

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 083



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 7/12

(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as otherwise required by this
chapter.

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the meeting and the agenda shall
provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to
Section 54954.3.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the
meeting or proceeding, and each teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the
teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within
the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in
subdivision (d).  subdivisions (d) and (e).

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a
final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local
agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final
action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act
(Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in
the process of developing the recommendation.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference
locations within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is
established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections
14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
any joint powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of
Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and
any advisory committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with
Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without complying with  the requirements
of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if, during the teleconference meeting, at least a quorum of the members of
the legislative body participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda,
which location shall be open to the public and situated within the boundaries of the territory over which the local
agency exercises jurisdiction and the legislative body complies with all of the following:

(A)The legislative body shall provide at least one of the following as a means by which the public may
remotely hear and visually observe the meeting, and remotely address the legislative body:

(i)A two-way audiovisual platform.

(ii)A two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting.

if the legislative body complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this subdivision in any of the following
circumstances:

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 084



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 8/12

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local officials
have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing.

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of
determining, by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present
imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(C) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency and has determined, by
majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would
present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do all of the following:
(B)
(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by
which members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment.  The agenda shall identify
and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service option.

(C)The agenda shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend and address the legislative
body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 via a call-in option, via an internet-based service option, and at
the in-person location of the meeting.

(D)

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting to
members of the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a
disruption within the local agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public
comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further
action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items during a disruption that prevents
the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.

(E)

(C) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and
must provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.

(F)

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of
an internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that
requires registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party
internet website or online platform to participate.

(2)A member of the legislative body shall only participate in the meeting remotely pursuant to this subdivision,
if all of the following requirements are met:

(A)One of the following circumstances applies:

(i)The member notifies the legislative body at the earliest opportunity possible, including at the start of a
regular meeting, of their need to participate remotely for just cause, including a general description of
the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting. The provisions of this
clause shall not be used by any member of the legislative body for more than two meetings per calendar
year.

(ii)The member requests the legislative body to allow them to participate in the meeting remotely due to
emergency circumstances and the legislative body takes action to approve the request. The legislative
body shall request a general description of the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at
the given meeting. A general description of an item generally need not exceed 20 words and shall not
require the member to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or any personal medical information
that is already exempt under existing law, such as the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Chapter

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 085



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 9/12

1 (commencing with Section 56) of Part 2.6 of Division 1 of the Civil Code). For the purposes of this
clause, the following requirements apply:

(I)A member shall make a request to participate remotely at a meeting pursuant to this clause as
soon as possible. The member shall make a separate request for each meeting in which they seek to
participate remotely.

(II)The legislative body may take action on a request to participate remotely at the earliest
opportunity. If the request does not allow sufficient time to place proposed action on such a request
on the posted agenda for the meeting for which the request is made, the legislative body may take
action at the beginning of the meeting in accordance with paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) of Section
54954.2.

(B)The member shall publicly disclose at the meeting before any action is taken whether any other
individuals 18 years of age or older are present in the room at the remote location with the member, and
the general nature of the member’s relationship with any such individuals.

(C)The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology.

(3)The provisions of this subdivision shall not serve as a means for any member of a legislative body to
participate in meetings of the legislative body solely by teleconference from a remote location for a period of
more than three consecutive months or 20 percent of the regular meetings for the local agency within a
calendar year, or more than two meetings if the legislative body regularly meets fewer than 10 times per
calendar year.

(E) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each agenda item shall not close
the public comment period for the agenda item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph
(D), to provide public comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed.

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment period, but takes public comment
separately on each agenda item, shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public
members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time for members of the public to
register pursuant to subparagraph (D), or otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public
comment.

(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period that does not correspond to
a specific agenda item shall not close the public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant
to subparagraph (D), until the timed general public comment period has elapsed.

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, or state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures
to promote social distancing, in order to continue to teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b), the legislative body shall, not later than 45 days after teleconferencing for the first time
pursuant to subparagraph (A), (B), or (C) of paragraph (1), and every 45 days thereafter, make the following
findings by majority vote:

(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency.

(B) Any of the following circumstances exist:

(i) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in
person.

(ii) State or local officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing.

(4) This subdivision shall not be construed to require the legislative body to provide a physical location from
which the public may attend or comment.

(f) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for
reasonable accommodation for individuals with disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities
Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. In each instance in which
notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the
legislative body shall also give notice of the procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation.

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 086



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 10/12

(g) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent with applicable civil rights and
nondiscrimination laws.

(h) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the public with additional
teleconference locations.

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing  members of  the public with additional
physical locations in which the public may observe and address the legislative body by electronic means.

(i) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:

(1)“Emergency circumstances” means a physical or family medical emergency that prevents a member from
attending in person.

(2)“Just cause” means any of the following:

(A)A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic
partner that requires them to participate remotely. “Child,” “parent,” “grandparent,” “grandchild,” and
“sibling” have the same meaning as those terms do in Section 12945.2.

(B)A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person.

(C)A need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in Sections 12926 and 12926.1 not otherwise
accommodated by subdivision (f).

(D)Travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or local agency.

(3)“Remote location” means a location from which a member of a legislative body participates in a meeting
pursuant to subdivision (e), other than any physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting.
Remote locations need not be accessible to the public.

(4)“Remote participation” means participation in a meeting by teleconference at a location other than any
physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting. Watching or listening to a meeting via
webcasting or another similar electronic medium that does not permit members to interactively hear, discuss,
or deliberate on matters, does not constitute remote participation.

(1) “State of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to Section 8625 of the California
Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing with Section 8550) of Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2).

(5)

(2) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different locations,
connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both.

(6)“Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides participants with the ability to
participate in a meeting via both an interactive video conference and a two-way telephonic function.

(7)“Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not require internet access, is not
provided as part of a two-way audiovisual platform, and allows participants to dial a telephone number to listen
and verbally participate.

(8)“Webcasting” means a streaming video broadcast online or on television, using streaming media technology
to distribute a single content source to many simultaneous listeners and viewers.

(j)This section shall become operative January 1, 2024, shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as
of that date is repealed.

(j) This section shall become operative January 1, 2026.
SEC. 3. Section 54953 of the Government Code, as added by Section 3 of Chapter 285 of the Statutes of 2022,
is repealed.

54953.(a)All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 087



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 11/12

permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as otherwise provided in this
chapter.

(b)(1)Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing
for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any meeting or
proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all requirements of
this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a specific type of meeting or proceeding.

(2)Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any
meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. All votes taken during a teleconferenced
meeting shall be by rollcall.

(3)If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. Each
teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each
teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the teleconference, at least a quorum of the
members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over
which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in subdivision (d). The agenda shall provide
an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3
at each teleconference location.

(4)For the purposes of this section, “teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of
which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both. Nothing
in this section shall prohibit a local agency from providing the public with additional teleconference locations.

(c)(1)No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2)The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

(3)Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a
final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local
agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final
action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act
(Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or
received in the process of developing the recommendation.

(d)(1)Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2)Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference
locations within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is
established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

(3)For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections 14018.7,
14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint
powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 for
the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory
committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section
1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e)This section shall become operative January 1, 2026.
SEC. 4. The Legislature finds and declares that Sections 1 and 2 of this act, which amend Section 54953 of the
Government Code, furthers, within the meaning of paragraph (7) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of theRegular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 088



3/15/23, 4:10 PM Bill Text - AB-557 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB557 12/12

California Constitution, the purposes of that constitutional section as it relates to the right of public access to the
meetings of local public bodies or the writings of local public officials and local agencies. Pursuant to paragraph
(7) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution, the Legislature makes the following
findings:

This act is necessary to ensure minimum standards for public participation and notice requirements allowing for
greater public participation in teleconference meetings.

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 089



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 2 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 090



NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT
RESOLUTION 2023-02

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE NORTH COUNTY FIRE 

PROTECTION DISTRICT, SAN DIEGO COUNTY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
SUPPORTING ASSEMBLY BILL 557 AND AUTHORIZATION TO SUBMIT A LETTER 

OF SUPPORT FOR ASSEMBLY BILL 557

Resolution 2023-02 Page 1 of 2

WHEREAS, local agencies, including the North County Fire Protection District (“District”), 
have effectively utilized the procedures established by AB 361 to meet remotely during 
the COVID-19 pandemic; 

WHEREAS, the COVID-19 state of emergency in California terminated at the end of 
February 2023, whereupon the District will no longer be able to use AB 361 to support 
remote meetings unless the Governor declares a state of emergency.  Further, AB 361 
will terminate completely at the end of 2023 and local agencies will lose statutory authority 
for remote emergency meetings established by AB 361; 

WHEREAS, in order to preserve the modified remote meeting procedures beyond the 
end of 2023, AB 557 would abolish the sunset that would otherwise repeal these 
procedures.  It would also extend the timeframe for Districts to adopt the necessary 
findings for authorization of remote meetings from 30 days to 45 days; 

WHEREAS, absent any legislative intervention, the processes established by AB 361 to 
provide remote meeting flexibility to the District and other local agencies in emergency 
circumstances will expire at the end of this year; 

WHEREAS, AB 557 will allow the District to be prepared for another state of emergency 
in which remote meetings may be necessary for the health and safety of District personnel 
and the people it serves; and  

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Board of Directors of the North County Fire Protection 
District to support AB 557 by sending a letter of support to the State legislature. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Directors of the North County Fire Protection District 
DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

1. All of the statements and facts set forth above in the recitals are true and correct 
and incorporated herein by this reference.  

2. The Board of Directors supports AB 557 as drafted. 

3. The Board of Directors has reviewed the draft letter in support of AB 557 to 
Assembly Member Hart and approves of the same with any changes noted at the time of 
the adoption of this Resolution.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board Clerk is hereby directed to transmit a copy 
of this Resolution and the above-referenced letter of support to the attention of The 
Honorable Gregg Hart (lenh.voongAasm.ca.gov), California State Assembly, 1021 O 
Street, Suite 6230, Sacramento, CA 95814, and to Marcus Detwiler, Legislative 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 091



NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT
RESOLUTION 2023-02

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE NORTH COUNTY FIRE 

PROTECTION DISTRICT, SAN DIEGO COUNTY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
SUPPORTING ASSEMBLY BILL 557 AND AUTHORIZATION TO SUBMIT A LETTER 

OF SUPPORT FOR ASSEMBLY BILL 557

Resolution 2023-02 Page 2 of 2

Representative, CSDA (advocacy@csda.net). 

APPROVED, ADOPTED AND SIGNED by the Board of Directors, North County Fire 
Protection District, County of San Diego, State of California, on this 28th day of March, 
2023, by the following vote: 

AYES: Acosta, Egkan, Munson, Pike and Shaw 

NOES:  None 

ABSENT: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

RECUSED: None 

___________________________ 
Cindy  Acosta, Board President 

ATTEST: 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the resolution duly and 
regularly adopted by the Board of Directors of the North County Fire Protection District 
thereof held on the 28th day of March 2023 and that the same now appears on record in 
the Board Clerk’s office. 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and affixed by official seal this 28th day of 
March 2023.

Mavis Canpinar, Board Clerk  

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 092



NORTH COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT

330 S. Main Avenue  Fallbrook, California 92028-2938  Phone:  (760) 723-2005  Fax:  (760) 723-2072  Web: www.ncfire.org

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CINDY ACOSTA 

JEFFERY EGKAN 

KENNETH E. MUNSON

ROSS L. PIKE 

CHRIS SHAW 

KEITH MCREYNOLDS – Fire Chief/CEO - kmcreynolds@ncfire.org 

KRISTEN S. STEINKE – District Counsel – ksteinke@bwslaw.com 

MAVIS CANPINAR – Executive Assistant/Board Clerk – mavis@ncfire.org 

PR O U D LY   SE R V I N G  T H E  C O M MU N I T I E S  O F  FA L L B RO O K , BO N S AL L  AN D  RA I N BO W

D U T Y  ~ I N T E G R I T Y  ~ R E S P E C T

March 7, 2023

The Honorable Gregg Hart  
California State Assembly 
1021 O Street, Suite 6230 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

RE: Assembly Bill 557 (Hart) – Support [As Introduced]

Dear Assembly Member Hart:

The North County Fire Protection District is pleased to inform you of our support for Assembly Bill 557, related to 
emergency remote meeting procedures under the Ralph M. Brown Act.  

The changes made to California Government Code section 54953 by Assembly Bill 361 (R. Rivas, 2021) were of 
vital importance to local agencies looking to meet during the COVID-19 pandemic in order to continue to conduct 
the people’s business. These changes were necessary in order to permit local agencies to meet during a time that 
it would have otherwise been impossible to meet in-person safely. Important safeguards were included to ensure 
transparency and accountability, including the fact that the emergency provisions were only applicable in instances 
where the California Governor had declared a state of emergency. 

While California seeks to transition to a post-COVID era, the threat of additional emergencies remains, as has been 
made abundantly clear by recent flooding and wildfires. Absent any legislative intervention, the processes 
established by AB 361 to provide remote meeting flexibility to local agencies in emergency circumstances will 
expire at the end of this year. To remain best-equipped to address future emergencies and allow local agencies to 
effectively react and respond, AB 557 would eliminate the sunset on the emergency remote meeting procedures 
added to California Government Code section 54953. Additionally, AB 557 would adjust the timeframe for the 
resolutions passed to renew an agency’s temporary transition to emergency remote meetings to 45 days, up from 
the previous number of 30 days. This would allow North County Fire Protection District to conduct business in the 
most efficient manner possible.  

This legislation will preserve an effective tool for local agencies facing emergencies that would otherwise prevent 
them from conducting the people’s business when faced with an emergency. For these reasons, North County Fire 
Protection District is pleased to support Assembly Bill 557. Please feel free to contact me at 
kmcreynolds@ncfire.org or at 330 S. Main Ave., Fallbrook CA 92028 if you have any questions. 

Sincerely,

Keith McReynolds
Fire Chief/CEO 
North County Fire Protection District 

CC: Marcus Detwiler, Legislative Representative, California Special Districts Association  

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 093



 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 094



S T A F F  R E P O R T

Page 1 of 1 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FROM: BOARD CLERK CANPINAR 

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023 

SUBJECT: VALLEY CENTER FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT TAX 

APPORTIONMENT RATE

ACTION AGENDA  

BACKGROUND:

The Valley Center Fire Protection District (VCFPD) is seeking support from the San Diego 
County Board of Supervisors to raise their tax apportionment formula from 2 percent of 
the 1 percent to 6 percent of the 1 percent. The VCFPD was formed on June 29, 1982, 
as a Special District by a vote of the citizens to provide Fire Protection, Rescue and EMS 
services to an 84.5 square mile area of unincorporated San Diego County. Valley Center 
Fire was assigned a tax apportionment formula of 2 percent of the 1 percent property tax 
allocation for a mostly agricultural, rural community.  

DISCUSSION:

A request was made by Director Pike to have the NCFPD Board discuss whether or not 
the Board would be interested in sending a letter of support for the VCFPD. This will be 
an opportunity for the Board to discuss the issue in open session.  

FISCAL ANALYSIS:  

None 

SUMMARY:

Should the Board agree to support this effort, a letter from Board President Acosta would 
be drafted, signed on behalf of the Board and sent to the San Diego County Board of 
Supervisors. If the Board decides not to send a letter of support then no further action is 
required. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 095



 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 096



S T A F F  R E P O R T

Page 1 of 2 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FROM: CHIEF MCREYNOLDS 

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023 

SUBJECT: FIRE STATION #4 CONSTRUCTION PROJECT

ACTION AGENDA  

RECOMMENDATION:  

 That the Board approve the current site of Fire Station #4 (4375 Pala Mesa Drive) 
as the location to construct a new permanent Fire Station.  

 That the Board direct Staff to execute a contract for Fire Station Construction 
Management Services with Erickson-Hall Construction on the Fire Station #4 
project to oversee the design/build of the new station.  

 That the Board direct Staff to allocate a Capital Facility Reserve Account (CFRA) 
in the FY 23/24 Preliminary Budget for debt servicing the Fire Station #4 project. 

BACKGROUND:

The current Fire Station #4 was constructed as a temporary facility in 1979. The station 
has outlived its useful life and no longer meets the needs of the District. A full station 
replacement is needed to meet the increasing service demands along the I-15 corridor 
and greater Pala Mesa region.  

DISCUSSION:

For the last year, Staff has been exploring two (2) sites for a permanent Fire Station #4, 
the current site of the station and, property that the County of San Diego now owns on 
the southwest corner of SR-76 & I-15. At the conclusion of our information gathering and 
fact-finding, Staff feels that the current site would be the best location for a permanent 
Fire Station #4. The extended timeline of the County to develop their property, site 
impacts from San Diego County Sheriff (SDSO) on the property, and grant funding 
eligibility all factored into this recommendation to utilize the current site.  

Staff would also like to contract with Erickson-Hall Construction for Construction 
Management services to oversee the Station #4 project. The District has worked with 
Erickson-Hall over the past 20 months on multiple other District facility projects including 
the renovation of Fire Stations #2 and #3. Given that the Erickson-Hall team has 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 097



FIRE STATION #4 CONSTRUCTION PROJECT

3/28/2023 
PAGE 2 OF 2 

performed construction management services on the Station #3 project, Staff feels their 
team is best positioned to provide the same services on the Station #4 project. 

FISCAL ANALYSIS:  

The cost for project construction management services through Erickson-Hall would 
range from $1.3M not to exceed $1.5M over multiple years. This could be funded with 
$.5M that was awarded to the NCFPD for the Fire Station #4 project in the 2022 California 
State budget and, through the CFRA account that will be created in the upcoming FY 
23/34 budget. 

SUMMARY:

Having construction management services provided by a firm that is familiar with 
building fire stations including needed surveys, studies, permits, and other pre-
construction requirements will allow for maximum efficiency and oversite of the project. 
Staff would like to execute this contract with Erickson-Hall Construction in the next few 
weeks so that the project could begin. Staff would return to the Board with a timeline of 
work on the project within the next few months. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 098



S T A F F  R E P O R T

Page 1 of 2 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

DEPUTY CHIEF MAHR AND CHIEF MCREYNOLDS 

MARCH 28, 2023 

SUBJECT: FLEET SERVICE CONTRACTS 

ACTION AGENDA  

RECOMMENDATION:   

That the Board authorize staff to execute fleet service contracts with outside 
governmental agencies as capacity allows.  

BACKGROUND: 

The District owns and operates a Fleet Service Center located on the NCFPD Station #1 
campus to ensure that the District can provide excellent apparatus and equipment service 
and maintenance. Over the years, the District has provided these services as staffing and 
workload allows to outside agencies. Pala Fire, Rancho Santa Fe, and Deer Springs Fire 
Districts have all contracted with NCFPD for fleet service in years past.   

DISCUSSION: 

Recently, the District has once again been approached by several outside fire agencies 
inquiring on the ability to contract fleet maintenance services.  Currently the Valley Center 
Fire Protection District, Vista, and Camp Pendleton Fire Departments are interested in 
having the NCFPD Service Center as either their primary or secondary provider of fleet 
service for their apparatus.  Should the board approve the District to enter fleet service 
contracts once again with outside agencies, it is understood that all district vehicles and 
apparatus would have service priority over contract agencies. This will ensure that the 
care and maintenance of the District vehicles and apparatus remain top priority. 

FISCAL ANALYSIS:  

Staff has provided a revised contract (Attachment 1) which outlines the fee-for-service that  
the District would charge for the purpose of fleet service maintenance and repairs. These 
fees are designed to ensure 100% cost recovery of all services provided.  It may become 
necessary for the District to hire additional service center staff should one or more outside 
agencies sign a long-term primary provider contract.  If this occurs, the District will ensure 
that the additional personnel expense would be covered by the contracting agencies. 

FROM:

DATE:

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 099



FLEET SERVICES CONTRACTS

MARCH 28, 2023 
PAGE 2 OF 2 

SUMMARY:

The North Zone continues to explore innovative ways to collaborate on service. Having 
this contract option available for neighboring agencies when needed will not only ensure 
apparatus and equipment remain in-service for neighboring jurisdictions, but for our own 
constituents who enjoy expanded emergency response services through auto-aid and 
boundary drop agreements. Should the Board of Directors approve the option to 
contract with outside agencies for fleet services, staff will report back to the Board 
periodically on program status. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 100



-1- 

 

JOINT INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

Vehicle Maintenance and Repair 

This Interagency AGREEMENT (“AGREEMENT”) is hereby entered into by and between 

the North County Fire Protection District (“DISTRICT”), a California Independent Special District 

and a political subdivision of the State of California organized and operating under California 

Health and Safety Code Sections 13800, et seq., and the insert agency name (“Insert Abbreviation 

if there is one” or “Associating Agency”). 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the District is authorized by Section 13861 of the California Health and Safety Code 

and Section 20812 of the California Public Contract Code to contract with and employ persons 

specially trained, experienced, expert and competent to perform special services in the fields of 

accounting, administration, ambulance, architecture, custodial, economics, engineering, finance, 

insurance, labor relations, law, maintenance, mechanics, medicine, planning, science, technology 

and other services which are incidental to the operation of the District;  

 

WHEREAS, it is the purpose of this AGREEMENT to provide for the cooperative maintenance 

of motorized apparatus, equipment, and purchase of supplies by the DISTRICT and the PFD as 

well as other agencies who may become parties to this Interagency AGREEMENT (“Associating 

Agencies”), and to establish a common use of service by elimination of duplication of expenses 

and to consolidate such services into a centralized fee for service program. The Parties find that 

this AGREEMENT is in the best interest of the public and will serve the citizens of other respective 

agencies by creating operating efficiencies and other economic benefits to the respective agencies. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these recitals and the mutual covenants contained 

herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties agree as follows: 

 

1. Parties.  The DISTRICT, located at 315 East Ivy Street, Fallbrook, California 92028, shall 

be the “Lead Agency” for purposes of this AGREEMENT insert agency name and full 

address  shall be a “Associating Agency” for purposes of this AGREEMENT.  Additional 

Associating Agencies may be added to this AGREEMENT from time to time by mutual 

written consent of the Parties to this AGREEMENT. 

2. Term.  The term of this AGREEMENT for association shall commence [OPTION 1: on 

the date of execution of this AGREEMENT by each party and shall continue until such 

time as the association has been terminated by act of the lead agency (DISTRICT) or by 

withdrawal by the Associating Agency as herein provided or OPTION 2: on 

_____________, 20__ and terminate on _____________, 20__ unless such term shall be 

continued by the Parties as memorialized in writing as an amendment to this 

AGREEMENT].  Upon five (5) days prior written notice,  the DISTRICT or an Associating 

Agency may, at any time, with or without cause, terminate this AGREEMENT.  Such 

written Notice shall be deemed given when personally delivered to the Parties to this 

Agreement or two days after depositing the same in the United States mail, certified return 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023

Attachment 1   

101



-2- 

 

receipt requested and properly addressed to the subject Associating Agency at the address 

set forth above.    

3. Services and Compensation.  The services listed on Exhibit A (“Special Services”), 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, shall be competently performed.  

DISTRICT shall provide all labor, equipment, machinery, materials, transportation, 

bailment and other incidentals necessary to perform the Special Services.  

Compensation/Rates for Special Services, also listed on Exhibit A, are subject to change 

based on an annual review of the rates listed thereon.  If the rates of service are adjusted, a 

notice shall be provided to Associating Agency 30 days in advance of implementation of 

the adjusted rate schedule. 

 

4. Invoices and Payments.  Upon receipt of notification of the Associating member’s expense 

from the lead agency, the associating member shall promptly remit to the lead agency any 

such sums due the lead agency. 

 

 If a participating agency has not made payment of costs and expenses set forth in 

notification from the lead agency within thirty days of mailing of said notification, then the 

lead agency may impose a delinquent fee equal to 5% of the payment due.  Said 

delinquency charge is to cover administration expenses and notification expenses due to 

the delinquencies in payment. 

 

5. Operating Fund.  Payments made by associate agencies will be placed in a fund established 

for the operation of the repair and maintenance program, and shall become the assets of the 

lead agency. If the associate member has a question as to the appropriateness of such 

payments, then any such issue shall be reduced to writing and submitted to the Fire 

Chief/CEO of the lead agency for response and/or resolution of any such questions. 

 

 If such questions cannot be resolved at the Fire Chief/CEO level, then the parties to this 

AGREEMENT do agree that any such issue will be submitted to the DISTRICT Board of 

Directors for resolution. 

 

6. Defense and Indemnification. 

 

a) Claims Arising from the Sole Acts or Omissions of the DISTRICT. The DISTRCIT 

hereby agrees to defend and indemnify the Associating Agencies their agents, 

officers and employees (hereinafter collectively referred to in this paragraph as 

“Associating Agencies”), from any claim, action or proceeding against Associating 

Agencies arising solely out of the active negligent acts or omissions of DISTRICT 

in the performance of this AGREEMENT.  At its sole discretion, Associating 

Agencies may participate at their own expense in the defense of any claim, action 

or proceeding, but such participation shall not relieve DISTRICT of any obligation 

imposed by this Agreement. Associating Agencies shall notify DISTRICT 

promptly of any claim, action or proceeding and cooperate fully in the defense. 

 

b) Claims Arising from the Sole Acts or Omissions of Associating Agencies.  

Associating Agency hereby agrees to defend and indemnify the DISTRICT, its 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 102



-3- 

 

agents, officers and employees (hereafter collectively referred to in this paragraph 

as 'DISTRICT') from any claim, action or proceeding against DISTRICT, arising 

solely out of the acts or omissions of Associating Agency in the performance of 

this Agreement. At its sole discretion, DISTRICT may participate at its own 

expense in the defense of any such claim, action or proceeding, but such 

participation shall not relieve Associating Agency of any obligation imposed by 

this Agreement. DISTRICT shall notify Associating Agency promptly of any 

claim, action or proceeding and cooperate fully in the defense. 

 

c) Claims Arising from Concurrent Acts or Omissions.  The DISTRICT hereby agrees 

to defend itself, and the Associating Agency hereby agrees to defend itself, from 

any claim, action or proceeding arising out of the concurrent acts or omissions of 

DISTRICT and Associating Agency. In such cases, DISTRICT and Associating 

Agency agree to retain their own legal counsel, bear their own defense costs and 

waive their right to seek reimbursement of such costs, except as otherwise provided 

below.  

 

d) Joint Defense.  Notwithstanding paragraph 6(c) above, in cases where DISTRICT 

and Associating Agency agree in writing to a joint defense, DISTRICT and 

Associating Agency may appoint joint defense counsel to defend the claim, action 

or proceeding arising out of the concurrent acts or omissions of Associating Agency 

and DISTRICT.  Joint defense counsel shall be selected by mutual agreement of 

DISTRICT and Associating Agency.  DISTRICT and Associating Agency agree to 

share the costs of such joint defense and any agreed settlement in equal amounts, 

except as provided in paragraph 6(e) below. DISTRICT and Associating Agency 

further agree that neither party may bind the other to a settlement agreement without 

the written consent of both DISTRICT and Associating Agency.  

 

e) Reimbursement and/or Reallocation.  Where a trial verdict or arbitration award 

allocates or determines the comparative fault of the parties, DISTRICT and 

Associating Agency may seek reimbursement and/or reallocation of defense costs, 

settlement payments, judgments and awards, consistent with such comparative 

fault.  

 

d) Associating Agency’s obligations under this Paragraph 6, et seq. shall survive the 

expiration or earlier termination of this AGREEMENT until all actions against the 

Indemnified Parties for such matters indemnified hereunder, are fully and finally 

barred by the applicable statute of limitations or, if an action is timely filed, until 

such action is final. This provision is not intended for the benefit of third party 

Indemnified Parties not otherwise a party to this AGREEMENT. 

 

7. Modification.  No modification to the AGREEMENT shall be valid or binding upon any 

of the parties to this AGREEMENT, unless its changes or modification are in writing and 

executed by all the parties to this AGREEMENT. An exception to this provision shall be 

that the lead agency reserves the right to adopt, from time to time, an updated schedule of 

participation charges for any repairs and/or maintenance performed by said lead agency.  

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 103



-4- 

 

The lead agency also reserves the right to adopt/change the maintenance standards as 

necessary to comply with State, Federal, and DISTRICT requirements. The Associating 

Agency agrees to reimburse the lead agency as identified on notification to the lead agency 

for all parts, supplies and any extraordinary repair services provided outside of the services 

provided by the mechanics employed by the lead agency. 

 

8. Addition/Exclusion/Limitation.   The DISTRICT reserves the right to add or exclude any 

other agency from participation in this Interagency AGREEMENT and/or limit services 

provided and establish qualifications or contingencies to the providing of service. 

 

9. Governmental Services.  No services as anticipated herein shall be allowed to any non-

governmental agencies.  Agencies to become associates under this Interagency 

AGREEMENT shall be political subdivisions of the State of California, County of San 

Diego, federal agencies or local government agencies. No private services shall be 

provided whatsoever. 

 

10. Non-Exclusive. This agreement for the provision of repair services is not an exclusive 

arrangement and all Associating Agencies shall have the right to contract or seek such other 

services and/or purchase supplies with any other service providing entity with or without 

notice to the lead agency. 

 

11. Repairs.  All in-house or outside repairs on Associating Agency vehicles exceeding 

$1000.00 shall be authorized in advance by the Associating Agency.  The Associating 

Agency shall designate a parson authorized to approve vehicle repairs, and the lead agency 

shall accept no other authorization. Any and all costs for supplies and outside labor to 

participating agency vehicles shall be billed by the lead agency to the Associating Agency. 

The Associating Agency shall bear costs incurred by the lead agency, including any 

delinquent fees for non or late payments. 

 

12. Lead Agency Duties. 

 

Administrative Support - The lead agency shall provide administrative support to the 

Associating Agencies as necessary in the overall administration of the vehicle maintenance 

program. 

Maintain Books and Records - The lead agency shall maintain books, records and 

documents which accurately reflect all direct and indirect costs associated with the 

performance of this AGREEMENT. The Associating Agencies shall have access to all 

books and records upon reasonable notice to the lead agency. 

Invoices and Payments - The lead agency agrees to give notice to each Associating Agency 

for identifying that participant’s share of any and all sums due from each participating 

agency; and each participating agency agrees to remit to the lead agency promptly upon 

receipt of such notification all sums due. The lead agency agrees to provide a complete 

itemized statement to the participating agency with any and all notifications. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 104



-5- 

 

13. Supplier Agreements.  The lead agency shall be responsible for establishing vendor 

relationships on behalf of the Associating Agency for provision of labor, materials and 

supplies. 

14. Warranties.  DISTRICT makes no warranties to the Associating Agencies regarding parts 

and/or labor provided, except manufacturer, and in attempting to provide such services on 

a cooperative basis as anticipated, the lead agency shall assume no responsibility for such 

matters including but not limited to the following:  loss of time; use; inconvenience; normal 

wear and tear; abuse; selection of parts or other repair matters not specified; consequential 

or incidental damages. 

15. Authorization.  In addition to the reservations set forth herein regarding conditions of 

providing services and/or limitations, the associating party shall maintain the vehicle 

physical damage insurance, including comprehensive and collision coverage’s on all 

vehicles delivered to the lead agency for service maintenance and/or repair, in reasonable 

amounts of insurance coverage relating to current values of any such vehicles submitted 

for service, and shall further provide proof of such insurance upon request by the 

DISTRICT. The Associating Agency shall maintain property insurance coverage for any 

and all equipment and vehicles not licensed that are delivered the lead agency for service, 

maintenance, and repair, and proof of such coverage shall be provided to the lead agency 

upon request. It is the intent of this clause that the insurance coverage covers such vehicles 

and/or equipment licensed and unlicensed while such are with the lead agency for service, 

maintenance, and repair, from delivery of such vehicle or equipment to the lead agency 

until pick up of such vehicle or equipment. 

By entering into this Interagency AGREEMENT the Associating Agency does hereby 

authorize any requested service work to be done along with the purchase of necessary parts 

and supplies and does further agree that the member agencies shall be responsible for the 

loss or damage to vehicles and/or equipment in case of fire, theft or any other damage not 

caused by DISTRICT. DISTRICT shall further not be responsible for any delays caused 

by unavailability of parts or delays in parts shipments or delays in the provision of services 

under the Interagency AGREEMENT.  The Associating Agency grants the lead agency full 

authority to prioritize order of repairs, and to repair operating agency vehicles and 

equipment with first priority at all times, it being the understanding that any such 

Associating Agency has the full right to have any service work done elsewhere. 

The Associating Agency grants DISTRICT permission to operate any vehicle and/or 

equipment submitted by said agency for services and for purposes of testing and/or 

inspection. 

16. Resources.  It is agreed that the lead agency shall have access to resources in the 

establishment of this AGREEMENT.  Such resources shall be identified in an inventory 

which shall be kept on file as an official part of this AGREEMENT.  Any changes to the 

inventory list which may be a result of sale, loss or damage shall be annotated in the 

inventory list and acknowledged by signature of the lead and respective Associating 

Agency. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 105



-6- 

 

17. Termination.  This AGREEMENT shall continue in effect indefinitely until terminated in 

writing by the associating or lead agency as provided below. Upon termination, any 

property or equipment owned by the Associating Agency shall be returned based on the 

current inventory list as outlined above. An agency may terminate participation in this 

program at any time on a thirty day notice, provided that such agency shall be responsible 

for the costs of services and supplies provided up to the effective date of termination. 

18. Entire Agreement. This AGREEMENT and any exhibits attached hereto constitute the 

entire agreement among the parties and supersedes any prior or contemporaneous 

understanding or agreement with respect to the Special Services contemplated and may be 

amended only by a written amendment executed by both parties to the AGREEMENT. 

 

19. Non-Discrimination in Employment. DISTRICT and Associating Agencies shall not 

unlawfully discriminate, harass or allow harassment, against any employee or applicant for 

employment, including, without limitation, in regard to matters affecting hiring, salary, 

benefits, performance evaluation, discipline, promotion, retirement, and/or dismissal 

because of sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, race, color, ancestry, religious creed, 

national origin, disability (including HIV and AIDS), medical condition (such as cancer), 

age, marital status, pregnancy, family care leave or political opinion. SERVICE 

PROVIDER and all SUBCONTRACTING SERVICE PROVIDERS shall insure that the 

evaluation and treatment of their employees and applicants for employment are free from 

such discrimination and harassment and comply with all applicable federal, state and local 

laws, regulations and executive orders regarding non-discrimination in employment.  The 

principle of equal opportunity in employment will be demonstrated positively and 

aggressively.   

 

20. Non-Waiver. The failure of DISTRICT or Associating Agencies to seek redress for 

violation of, or to insist upon, the strict performance of any term or condition of this 

AGREEMENT, shall not be deemed a waiver by that party of such term or condition, or 

prevent a subsequent similar act from again constituting a violation of such term or 

condition. 

 

21. Notice.  All notices or demands to be given under this AGREEMENT by either party to 

the other, shall be in writing and given either by: (a) personal service or (b) by U.S. Mail, 

mailed either by certified mail, return receipt requested, with postage prepaid. Service shall 

be considered given when received if personally served or if mailed on the second day after 

deposit in any U.S. Post Office. The address to which notices or demands may be given by 

either party may be changed by written notice given in accordance with the notice 

provisions of this section. At the date of this AGREEMENT, the addresses of the parties 

are as set forth above. This AGREEMENT shall be administered on behalf of and any 

Notice desired or required to be sent to a party hereunder shall be addressed to: 

 

To  DISTRICT:  

 

North County Fire Protection District 

330 S Main Avenue  

Fallbrook, CA  92028-2938 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 106



-7- 

 

Attention:  Keith McReynolds, Fire Chief/CEO 

 

To Associated Agency:  

 

_______________________ 

 

 

22. Governing Law – California Law.  This AGREEMENT shall be construed and interpreted 

in accordance with the laws of the State of California.  Venue shall lie in the County of San 

Diego, State of California.   

 

23. Waiver.  Except as otherwise specifically provided in the AGREEMENT, no action or 

failure to act by DISTRICT shall constitute a waiver of any right or duty afforded 

DISTRICT under the AGREEMENT, nor shall any such action or failure to act constitute 

an approval of or acquiescence in any breach of the AGREEMENT, except as may be 

specifically agreed in writing. The waiver by DISTRICT of any term, covenant or condition 

herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term, covenant or condition 

on any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition herein 

contained.  

 

24. Waiver of Consequential Damages.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained 

in this AGREEMENT, no party to this AGREEMENT shall be liable for any consequential, 

special, indirect or incidental damages of any kind or nature whatsoever, or any lost income 

or profits, regardless of whether arising from breach of contract or tort.   

 

25. Conflict of Terms. If any provision contained in this Agreement conflicts with any 

provision in any of the Exhibits to this Agreement, which are incorporated herein by 

reference, the provision of this Agreement shall govern and control. 

 

26. Rights and Remedies are Cumulative.  Except with respect to rights and remedies expressly 

declared to be exclusive in this AGREEMENT, the rights and remedies of the parties are 

cumulative and the exercise by either party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall 

not preclude the exercise by it, at the same or different times, of any other rights or remedies 

for the same default or any other default by the other party. 

 

27. Severability. If any term, condition, or provision of this AGREEMENT is held by a court 

of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions 

will nevertheless continue in full force and effect and shall not be affected, impaired or 

invalidated in any way. 

 

28. Interpretation of the Contract.  Section headings and paragraph numbers have been 

included in this AGREEMENT to make reference easier and in no way limit, define or 

enlarge the terms, scope or conditions of this contract.  

 

29. Entire Agreement/Amendment. The AGREEMENT and any exhibits attached hereto 

constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties and constitutes a complete integration 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 107



-8- 

 

of all understandings between the parties on the subject of the Work. The AGREEMENT 

supersedes all prior negotiations, representations and agreements between the parties, 

whether written or oral. This AGREEMENT shall not be modified except in writing 

executed by both parties.   

 

30. Signatures. The signatures that follow constitute confirmation by those signing that they 

have examined and understand the AGREEMENT documents and agree to be bound by 

the terms of these documents.  Each of the parties signing this AGREEMENT warrants to 

the other that he has the full authority of the entity on behalf of which his signature is made. 

 

31. Execution and Counterparts. It is expressly understood by the Parties hereto that delivery 

by the DISTRICT of the within AGREEMENT for review and execution by Associated 

Agencies shall confer no rights nor impose any obligations on either Party, unless and until 

both Associated Agency  and  the DISTRICT  both execute  this  AGREEMENT.  This 

AGREEMENT may be executed in counterparts.  Digital or facsimile copies of original 

signatures shall be as valid as original signatures.  

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 108



-9- 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF; THE UNDERSIGNED PARTIES HAVE EXECUTED 

THIS AGREEMENT ON THE _______ DAY OF ____________, _____. 

 

 

    

KEITH MCREYNOLDS,  

CEO/FIRE CHIEF  Name, Title 

North County Fire Protection District  Agency 

 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

  

Mavis Canpinar 

Board Clerk 

North County Fire Protection District 

 

  

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 109



-10- 

 

INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

Vehicle Maintenance and Repair  

EXHIBIT “A” 

RATES1 

Hourly Rates 

$92.00 Per Hour 

Parts 

Cost including freight/shipping + 10% 

Hazardous Materials Disposal Fee 

$25.00 when applicable 

Administrative Fee 

12% per invoice 

 

 
1 Rates subject to change based on annual review as explained in Paragraph 3 of the Agreement. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 110



S T A F F  R E P O R T

Page 1 of 2 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FROM: BATTALION CHIEF DECAMP AND CHIEF MCREYNOLDS

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023 

SUBJECT: BLS 116 CRASHWORTHINESS EVALUATION 

DISCUSSION AGENDA 

BACKGROUND:

On December 24, 2022, BLS 116 was involved in a traffic collision that resulted in 
moderate injuries to the occupants and a total loss of the vehicle.  Following this event, 
with the interest of improving safety for our employees, NCFPD completed a 
crashworthiness evaluation of the involved vehicle, a 2018 E-450 Super Duty Cutaway 
van. 

DISCUSSION:

The crashworthiness evaluation was based on the United States General Services 
Administration KKK-A-1822 standard and the Insurance Institute for Highway Safety 
(IIHS) ratings. 

The KKK-A-1822 is the minimum safety and design criteria for ambulances that are 
purchased with federal funds.  The evaluation revealed that the NCFPD meets the current 
KKK-A-1822 requirements.  This exceeds the state of California EMS authority 
expectation of safety regulations as compliance with KKK-A-1822 is not required. 

The Insurance Institute for Highway Safety (IIHS) performs crashworthiness tests to 
evaluate how well a vehicle protects its occupants in a crash. The IIHS tests include front 
crash, side crash, roof strength, and head restraint evaluations. The IIHS rates vehicles 
based on a good, acceptable, marginal, or poor rating for each test and overall safety.   
The crashworthiness evaluation found that the driver and passenger cabin and patient 
care module's structural integrity sustained no direct impact and resulted in a good rating 
based on IIHS standards. 

As a result of the evaluation, NCFPD will include side impact airbags on future ambulance 
builds as soon as they are available. Side impact air bags are not available for model year 
2024. We will enclose storage cabinets wherever feasible to prevent missile hazards in 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 111



BLS 116 CRASHWORTHINESS EVALUATION

3/28/23 
PAGE 2 OF 2 

the event of a collision. NCFPD will continue to seek to provide the safest working 
environment possible for those who knowingly put themselves in harm’s way.   

FISCAL ANALYSIS:  

No Fiscal impact. 

SUMMARY:

NCFPD has taken a proactive approach to improving the safety of their employees 
following the traffic collision involving BLS 116. The crashworthiness evaluation of the 
involved vehicle revealed that it met the minimum safety and design criteria for 
ambulances, and even exceeded the state of California EMS authority's expectation of 
safety regulations. Additionally, the evaluation found that the vehicle's structural integrity 
sustained no direct impact and received a good rating based on IIHS standards. NCFPD 
has taken steps to improve safety further by enclosing storage cabinets wherever feasible 
on future ambulance builds to prevent missile hazards in the event of a collision and will 
include side impact airbags on future ambulance builds as soon as they become 
available. 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 112



S T A F F  R E P O R T

Page 1 of 1 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FROM: CHIEF MCREYNOLDS 

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023 

SUBJECT: CALIFORNIA SPECIAL DISTRICTS ASSOCIATION (CSDA) SPECIAL 

DISTRICT LEADERSHIP ACADEMY (SDLA) 

DISCUSSION AGENDA 

BACKGROUND:

At the December 13, 2022, Board meeting, the Board approved the attendance of Board 
members and staff to the California Special Districts Association (CSDA) Special District 
Leadership Academy (SDLA) in La Quinta, CA. Four NCFPD Board members along with 
Chief McReynolds, Board Clerk Canpinar and General Counsel Steinke attended the 
conference. 

DISCUSSION:

The SDLA content is based on CSDA’s groundbreaking, curriculum-based continuing 
education program, which recognizes the necessity for Board members and Staff to work 
closely toward a common goal. The SDLA provides the knowledge base to perform 
essential governance responsibilities and is designed for both new and experienced 
special district Board members. Session topics included building a foundation for good 
governance, charting the District’s course, defining Board and Staff roles and 
relationships, communication and outreach, and District finance. 

SUMMARY:

The conference provided a unique opportunity for Board and Staff members to learn 
about District governance and to build relationships amongst each other and fellow 
California Special District Association members.  

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS:

1. Which lecture did each attendee feel was personally valuable?  

2. What are some of the District’s strengths based on the various lectures? 

3. Does the District have any areas that we need to evaluate based on laws and/or 
best practices that were discussed at the conference? 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 113



 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 114



 

 

501 West Broadway  -  Suite 1600 
San Diego, California  92101-8474 
voice  619.814.5800 - fax  619.814.6799 
www.bwslaw.com 

Los Angeles – Inland Empire – Marin County – Oakland – Orange County – Palm Desert – San Diego –  San Francisco – Si l icon Valley – Ventura County  

M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: Board of Directors 

North County Fire Protection District 

FROM: Kristen S. Steinke, General Counsel 

DATE: March 28, 2023 

RE: General Counsel Report for Monthly Board Meeting 

 
This memorandum provides an update on social media use by public officials 

following the Ninth Circuit Court’s decision in Garnier v. O’Connor-Ratcliffe.  As always, 
please feel free to reach out with any questions.   

INTRODUCTION 

On July 27, 2022, the Ninth Circuit decided Garnier v. O’Connor-Ratcliffe, which 
held for the first time in this circuit that the use of private social media by public officials 
to discuss governmental business may create a public forum, which will be subject to 
protections under the First Amendment. Specifically, the Ninth Circuit held that the 
defendant school board members violated the First Amendment rights of the plaintiffs by 
blocking them on the Twitter and Facebook pages that the school board members had 
created and then used the same accounts to communicate with their constituents. In 
light of this case, this memorandum is intended to outline the risks of continued social 
media use by public officials, and provide suggestions for officials wishing to limit their 
own potential liability.   
 

DISCUSSION 
 

I. THE COURT DECISION  
 

In Garnier v. O’Connor-Ratcliffe, The defendant school board members originally 
used their social media pages to promote their political campaigns.  After being elected, 
the officials updated their social media pages to refer to their governmental positions 
and continued to use those pages to post content related to school district business. 
The officials used Twitter and Facebook to inform constituents about goings-on at the 
school district, invite the public to Board meetings, solicit input about specific policies or 
decisions, and communicate with parents about safety and security issues at the 
district’s schools. The plaintiffs were parents that attended meetings and were vocal 
critics of the school board, and became serial commenters on the two board member’s 
social media, posting comments about alleged wrongdoing by the superintendent, the 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 115



March 28, 2023 
Page 2 

 

 

governance of the board, and race relations issues at the school district.  The board 
members began deleting or hiding the comments on Facebook and Twitter. One of the 
board members eventually blocked the plaintiffs on Facebook and Twitter; the other 
board member blocked the plaintiffs on Facebook.  Thereafter, defendants used 
Facebook’s “word filter” feature to prohibit the use of most common English words, 
which effectively blocked all verbal comments from any members of the public, but did 
not unblock the plaintiffs. 

 
To be liable for violations of federal civil rights law (42 U.S.C § 1983), the public 

officials’ conduct must have been made in the capacity of a governmental official rather 
than as acts of a private citizen – the official must be found to be acting “under color of 
state law.”  The Ninth Circuit found that the school board members were acting as 
governmental officials when using their own personal social media pages, because the 
social media pages identified the school board members as governmental officials and 
they used social media to interact with their constituents regarding school district 
business.   

 
The Ninth Circuit also found that where a public official opens their social media 

up to use by the public with no specifically adopted regulations for content, the public 
official’s social media becomes a designated public forum. This is likely to be the case 
whenever constituents can submit written comments on posts. In such forums, any 
restrictions must be narrowly tailored to serve a significant government interest and 
must leave open alternative channels for communication, and permissible regulations 
are usually limited to content-neutral time, place, and manner restrictions.  Any content-
based regulations will be subject to strict scrutiny and will normally be considered 
unlawful. The Ninth Circuit held that blocking the plaintiffs from the social media that 
allowed written comments violated their First Amendment rights, because the interest 
asserted by the officials in prohibiting repetitive comments was not a significant 
governmental interest in light of the fact that the comments did not actually impede or 
disrupt the officials’ use of social media to get out their own messages. The Ninth Circuit 
also found that blocking the plaintiffs was not a “narrowly tailored” action since it 
interfered with more of plaintiffs’ speech than was necessary to achieve a significant 
governmental interest.   

 
The Ninth Circuit also found that turning off written public comments, such as by 

using Facebook’s “word filter,” was likely to create a limited public forum. In such 
forums, restrictions need only be viewpoint neutral and reasonable in light of the forum, 
but all adopted restrictions must be unambiguous and definite. The Court also found 
that the public officials further violated the First Amendment rights of the plaintiffs when 
they continued to block the plaintiffs after turning off verbal commenting on social 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 116



March 28, 2023 
Page 3 

 

 

media, as continuing to block the plaintiffs from seeing posts and being able to post only 
non-verbal emoji responses served no purpose, and was not reasonable in light of the 
purpose of the forum.   

 
II. IMPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC OFFICIALS 
 

As a result of the decision, public officials who use their personal social media to 
discuss governmental business, to invite constituents to public meetings, or to seek 
feedback on public policies, may be found to violate the First Amendment if they then 
block constituents from that social media, or if they delete, hide, or otherwise censor 
any comments with which they disagree.  
 

The Ninth Circuit found that the school board members were not liable for 
damages due to having qualified immunity, a defense that is only available when there 
is no published Court of Appeal case that clearly establishes that the official’s conduct 
violates the law.  However, this Ninth Circuit decision will now likely foreclose this 
defense and that means that public officials may now be liable for damages.   

CONCLUSION 
 

In sum, Garnier v. O’Connor-Ratcliffe provides that public officials will bear some 
risk of claims under federal civil rights law if they block members of the public from their 
social media or delete, hide, or otherwise censor negative comments about the official 
or the official’s public agency that are used by the official to discuss government 
business.   

 
IMPORTANT TAKE-AWAYS 
 
1.  Do not block members of the public from social media or delete, hide, or 

otherwise censor negative comments about the official or the official’s public agency 
that are used by the official to discuss government business.   

 
2. The most comprehensive way to avoid personal claims is to not use 

personal social media to discuss governmental business.   
 
3. If public officials are concerned about criticism, hate speech, or offensive 

conduct on the social media that they use to discuss business, they can disable all 
public comment on their pages, which is a content-neutral and view-point neutral 
restriction.   

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 117



 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 118



F I R E  C H I E F / C E O

Page 1 of 1 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

FROM: KEITH MCREYNOLDS, FIRE CHIEF/CEO 

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023 

SUBJECT: WRITTEN CORRESPONDENCE

 WRITTEN COMMUNICATION: 

 Feb. 8, 2023: Letter to Assemblymember Waldron  

J  Feb. 22, 2023: Letter to the Bonsall Chamber of Commerce

 March 14, 2023: Letter to Rainbow ARC Association

 BOARD RECOGNITION PROGRAM:   

 Thank you note -  February 2023:  

     Captain Sahagun       Engineer Glasgow 
     Firefighter Gonzalez            Single Role Paramedic Truman 
     Firefighter Swan 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 119



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 120



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 121



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 122



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 123



 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 124



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 125



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 126



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 127



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 128



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 129



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 130



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 131



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 132



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 133



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 134



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 135



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 136



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 137



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 138



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 139



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 140



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 141



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 142



Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 143



 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 144



S T A F F  R E P O R T   

Page 1 of 1 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

FROM: KEITH MCREYNOLDS, FIRE CHIEF/CEO  

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023 

SUBJECT: COMMENTS, REPORTS AND UPDATES

 STAFF COMMENTS/REPORTS/UPDATES:

 KEITH MCREYNOLDS, FIRE CHIEF/CEO: 

 CHIEF OFFICERS & STAFF: 

 BOARD: 

 BARGAINING GROUPS: 

 PUBLIC COMMENT: 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 145



 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 146



NN OO RR TT HH CC OO UU NN TT YY FF II RR EE

PP RR OO TT EE CC TT II OO NN DD II SS TT RR II CC TT

S T A F F  R E P O R T   

Page 1 of 1 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

FROM: CHIEF MCREYNOLDS

DATE: MARCH 28, 2023

SUBJECT: CLOSED SESSION 

CS-1. Announcement —  President Acosta:   

 An announcement regarding the items to be discussed in Closed Session will be made 
prior to the commencement of Closed Session.

CS-2. Conference With Real Property Negotiators (Government Code section 54956.8)- 
Property: 315 E. Ivy Street, Fallbrook, CA & Vacant Land, Ivy Street, Fallbrook, CA); 

 Fire Chief/CEO                                        Agency Representative: Will Soholt 

                                                                             Senior VP,  Kosmont Companies 

CS-3. Report From Closed Session — President Acosta:

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 147



 

 

 

Regular Board Meeting March, 28, 2023 148


	March 28, 2023, Regular Board Meeting Agenda
	1 - Public Comment
	2 - February 21, 2023 Minutes
	3 - Monthly Financial Report
	4 - Policies and Procedures
	5- Monthly Operation Report
	6 - San Diego LAFCO 2023 Election Regular and Alternate Special District Member of LAFCO Commission
	LAFCO Election Packet

	7 - Resolution 2023-02 Supporting Assembly Bill 557
	Bill Text of AB 557
	Resolution 2023-02
	Letter in Support of AB 557

	8 - Valley Center Fire Protection District Tax Apportionment Rate
	9 - Fire Station #4 Construction Project
	10 - Fleet Services Contracts
	Joint Interagency Agreement

	11 - BLS 116 Crashworthiness Evaluation
	12 - California Special Districts Association (CSDA) Special District Leadership Academy (SDLA)
	Legal Counsel Report
	Written Correspodence
	News Articles
	Comments, Reports and Updates
	Closed Session



